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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

TEIMURAZ TSIREKIDZE, On Behalf of 
Himself and All Others Similarly Situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

SYNTAX-BRILLIAN CORP.; MAN KIT 
(THOMAS) CHOW; JOHN S. 
HODGSON; JAMES CHING HUA LI; 
WAYNE A. PRATT; VINCENT F. 
SOLLITTO, JR.; BREAN MURRAY, 
CARRET & CO., LLC; CANACCORD 
ADAMS INC.; GROBSTEIN, HORWATH 
& COMPANY LLP; MERRILL LYNCH, 
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH 
INCORPORATED; ROBERT W. BAIRD 
& CO. INCORPORATED; and UBS 
SECURITIES LLC 

Defendants. 
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No. 2:07-cv-02204-FJM 
(Consolidated) 

CLASS ACTION 

CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION 
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF 
THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS 
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I.  NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a securities class action on behalf of all persons who purchased Syntax-

Brillian Corporation (“Syntax-Brillian” or the “Company”) securities between February 9, 

2007 and November 14, 2007, inclusive (the “Class Period”) for violations of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) against the Company and certain of its former 

officers and directors.  In addition, this action asserts claims pursuant to the Securities Act of 

1933 (“Securities Act”) against the Company and certain of its former officers and directors, 

its former auditor, and the investment banks who underwrote Syntax-Brillian’s May 24, 2007 

Secondary Public Offering (“SPO”).1 

2. During the Class Period, defendants signed, certified, and filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Syntax-Brillian’s financial statements.  These 

financial statements were false and misleading due to various accounting manipulations, 

including recording revenue in violation of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

(“GAAP”) on television consignment sales for which the Company’s largest Asian 

distributor, South China House of Technology (“SCHOT”), would only pay after the 

televisions were sold to an end-user.  In addition, the Company artificially inflated its profit 

margins and net income by using “tooling deposits” which, in reality, were roundtrip 

payments to its related party in Taiwan – Taiwan Kolin Ltd. (“Kolin”) – who, in turn, issued 

rebates to Syntax-Brillian.2  The improper accounting for revenue and “tooling deposits,” 

                                              

1  In connection with the Company’s SPO, Syntax-Brillian issued a Registration 
Statement dated April 6, 2007 (“Registration Statement”), a Prospectus dated April 30, 2007, 
a Preliminary Prospectus Supplement dated May 14, 2007, and a Prospectus Supplement 
dated May 23, 2007 and filed May 24, 2007 (“Prospectus”) (collectively, the “Offering 
Documents”).  The Company’s common stock traded on the NASDAQ under the ticker 
symbol “BRLC.” 

2  Kolin’s ties to Syntax-Brillian date to the 2003 founding of Syntax as an independent 
company, continuing through its 2005 merger with Three-Five Systems, Inc. a spinoff 
Brillian Corp.  Kolin assembled sets for Syntax-Brillian and formed DigiMedia Technology 
Co. Ltd. to handle research and development.  Kolin was not only the principal contract 
manufacturer of Syntax-Brillian’s LCD HDTVs; they were also a related party of Syntax-
Brillian as defined under GAAP, based on the fact they held more than 10% of Syntax-
Brillian’s stock and Christopher C. L. Liu, a director of Syntax-Brillian, was the President 
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artificially inflated the Company’s revenues, profit margins and earnings per share.  These 

accounting shenanigans were facilitated by the Company’s lack of internal and disclosure 

controls over financial reporting.  On April 18, 2008, Syntax-Brillian admitted that for much 

of the relevant time period in this litigation, the Company’s financial statements could not be 

relied upon, including the financial statements incorporated into the Offering Documents. 

3. Lead Plaintiff, the City of St. Clair Shores Police & Fire Retirement System 

(“Lead Plaintiff”), and named plaintiff, the City of New Haven Policemen and Firemen’s 

Pension Fund (“named plaintiff”) (collectively, “plaintiffs”), make the following allegations 

based upon the investigation of counsel, including, without limitation: a review of SEC 

filings and regulatory reports concerning Syntax-Brillian; securities analysts’ reports and 

advisories about the Company; press releases and other public statements and information; 

media and articles; and interviews with former Syntax-Brillian employees. 

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. These claims arise under, and pursuant to, §§11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the 

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2) and 77o, §§10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and 78t(a), and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. 

§240.10b-5.  Jurisdiction is conferred by, and venue is proper pursuant to, §22 of the 

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77v and §27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78aa, and 28 

U.S.C. §1331.  Many of the false and misleading statements were made in, or issued from, 

this district.  The principal executive offices of Syntax-Brillian are located at 1600 North 

Desert Drive, Tempe, Arizona 85281.  In connection with the acts complained of, defendants 

used the instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the United States mail. 

                                              

and a member of the Board of Directors of Kolin.  Throughout the Class Period, Syntax-
Brillian sent over a hundred million dollars in cash to Kolin and recorded the payments as 
“tooling deposits” on its balance sheet.  In fact, when Syntax-Brillian conducted their SPO in 
May of 2007 for over $143 million, most of the proceeds from the SPO went directly to 
Kolin in the form of tooling deposits. 
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III.  SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 

5. Syntax-Brillian sells liquid crystal display (“LCD”) and high definition 

televisions (“HDTVs”) under the brand-name Olevia in the United States directly to retailers 

and through distributors to consumer electronics retailers, such as Circuit City, CompUSA, 

Sears, Target, Amazon.com, and RadioShack.com.  In Asia, Syntax-Brillian sold its 

televisions through SCHOT, its primary Asian distributor. 

6. In fiscal year 2007 ended June 30, 2007, Syntax-Brillian’s LCD television 

sales to SCHOT accounted for approximately 48% of the Company’s total revenues.  In 

fiscal year 2006, sales to SCHOT represented only 16% of the Company’s total revenue.  In 

the last two fiscal years, therefore, sales to SCHOT were a substantial factor in the 

Company’s reported growth in revenues and profitability. 

7. During the Class Period, Syntax-Brillian reported tremendous growth in 

revenues, net income and profitability, driven in large measure by its sales of LCD 

televisions in China.  Throughout the Class Period, defendants repeatedly assured investors 

that the Company’s sales growth and profitability were “outstanding,” and that the 

Company’s future “continues to look bright based on our business model, low operating 

expense, and excellent strategic partnerships and channel relationships.” 

8. These statements were materially false and misleading because Syntax-Brillian 

failed to disclose that while the Company shipped hundreds of thousands of LCD televisions 

to its primary distributor in China during the Class Period – and recorded hundreds of 

millions of dollars in revenue in connection with these shipments – the end-user demand for 

the Company’s LCD televisions was much weaker than what investors were led to believe.  

As a result, the Company engaged in an accounting scheme (as described herein) that served 

to artificially inflate sales, margins and net income. 

9. As Syntax-Brillian announced in the closing of the SPO, the Company sold 

29.4 million shares of its common stock (including 3,841,304 shares sold pursuant to the 

exercise in full by the underwriters of their overallotment option) at a public offering price of 

$5.75 per share.  Gross proceeds (after deducting the underwriting discount but before 
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expenses) were approximately $143.3 million to Syntax-Brillian and approximately $16.3 

million to the selling stockholders in the SPO.  The Offering Documents, as described below 

and as the Company admitted in a restatement announcement, contained misleading 

statements of material fact because they failed to disclose adverse facts concerning Syntax-

Brillian’s business and financial results, specifically relating to demand for the Company’s 

products in China.  During the first half of 2007, Syntax-Brillian shipped hundreds of 

thousands of LCD televisions to SCHOT and immediately recorded these shipments as 

revenue.  Real demand (or “sell-through”) for the Company’s products in China, however, 

was significantly less than what the Company’s shipments and the immediate recognition of 

revenue indicated. 

10. On September 12, 2007, Syntax-Brillian issued a press release announcing its 

full-year 2007 results for the quarter ended June 30, 2007.  The Company’s 2007 fiscal year 

results matched analyst expectations, but the Company warned in the press release that the 

results for its first quarter 2008, ended September 30, 2007 (“1Q08”), would be significantly 

below expectations.  The Company projected 1Q08 revenues of between $170 and $180 

million, when analysts were expecting the Company to report revenues of $254 million, a 

shortfall of more than 25%.  Syntax-Brillian stated that the current business outlook “reflects 

Syntax-Brillian’s decision to take a more cautious approach to sales in Asia.”  The Company 

also blamed a tighter credit environment in Asia for the revenue shortfall.  The next day, 

Syntax-Brillian’s common stock declined over 34.5% to $4.01 on volume of more than 36 

million shares. 

11. The Company’s decision to ship more LCDs to China than end-user demand 

warranted did not become fully apparent until the Company reported its financial results for 

1Q08.  On November 1, 2007, the Company announced that revenues for the quarter were 

$150.6 million, a decline of 26.6% from the previous quarter, and that LCD revenue from 

China in 1Q08 was $14.6 million, compared with $96.8 million in the prior quarter, a decline 

of approximately 85%. 
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12. The Company also announced that it ended its relationship with its distributor 

in China, SCHOT, and that the Company would be licensing its Olevia brand name for sales 

in Asia to a third party that would be responsible for the manufacture, marketing and selling 

of Olevia LCDs.  In its 1Q08 Form 10-Q/A, filed with the SEC on November 15, 2007, the 

Company also indicated that SCHOT still owed the Company large sums of money for the 

LCDs shipped in prior quarters.  As of September 30, 2007, SCHOT owed the Company 

$123.2 million, of which $98 million was more than 120-days past due as of November 8, 

2007.  On November 15, 2007, shares of Syntax-Brillian closed at $2.89, a decline of 

approximately 10% from the prior day’s closing price. 

13. On April 18, 2008, Syntax-Brillian admitted in a press release that, for all or 

much of the relevant time relating to this litigation, the Company’s financial statements 

could not be relied upon.  Specifically, the Company explained: 

management and the Audit Committee believe that the financial statements 
for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and the interim periods contained 
therein, and the first fiscal quarter of 2008 may likely require restatement, 
and the financial disclosures within these previously-issued financial 
statements may likely be changed.  As such, the Company’s financial 
statements for these periods should no longer be relied upon.   

This announced restatement included the financial statements for the third quarter of fiscal 

2007, ended March 31, 2007 (“3Q07”), that were incorporated by reference in the Offering 

Documents.  Accordingly, the auditor’s consent, signed on April 6, 2007, and included in the 

Company’s May 24, 2007 SPO, could no longer be relied upon. 

14. Additionally, the SEC sent the Company a letter of inquiry, focused upon the 

“various financial and accounting issues beginning July 1, 2005, including the accounting 

treatment of tooling deposits, cash advances to Asian manufacturers, outstanding accounts 

receivable, inventory returns, internal control issues, and [the Company’s] supply chain 

relationships in Asia.”  The Company has acknowledged this inquiry, responded to the 

SEC’s requests and begun an investigation into these issues. 
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IV.  LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 

15. During the Class Period, defendants engaged in a course of conduct that 

artificially inflated the Company’s securities and operated as a fraud and deceit on 

purchasers of Syntax-Brillian securities.  As a result of the open, well-developed and 

efficient market for Syntax-Brillian’s stock, the pric[es] of Syntax-Brillian common stock 

fell when the misrepresentations made to the investing community, including the disclosure 

of materially false and misleading financial statements, were finally disclosed to investors.  

As a result, plaintiffs and the Class suffered damages. 

16. The false claims concerning Syntax-Brillian’s financial statements and 

operating results caused and maintained the artificial inflation in Syntax-Brillian’s stock 

price throughout the Class Period and until the truth was disclosed to the market. 

17. Defendants’ false and misleading statements had the intended effect and 

caused Syntax-Brillian’s common shares to trade at artificially inflated levels throughout the 

Class Period, trading as high as $8.69 per share. 

18. On September 12, 2007, Syntax-Brillian significantly lowered its revenue 

guidance for 1Q08, and calendar year 2007.  For 1Q08, the Company projected revenue of 

$170 to $180 million, which was significantly below the Company’s prior revenue projection 

of $254 million.  The Company also projected revenues for calendar year 2007 of $1.0 to 

$1.1 billion, which was also significantly below the Company’s previous guidance given just 

two-months earlier.  According to the Company, the lower revenue guidance was caused by, 

among other reasons, a more cautious approach to sales in Asia.  The next day, Syntax-

Brillian’s stock dropped $2.12 per share, or over 34.5% to close on September 13, 2001 at 

$4.01 per share, on unusually heavy trading volume. 

19. On November 15, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced that $98 million owed to 

the Company from SCHOT, out of $123.2 million in total, was more than 120-days past due 

as of November 8, 2007, and that the Company’s Chief Accounting Officer left the Company 

in October 2007.  On this news, the Company’s shares declined 10% to close at $2.89 on 

November 15, 2007. 
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V.  SYNTAX-BRILLIAN 

20. Non-party Syntax-Brillian designs, develops, and distributes HDTVs, and 

digital and film cameras.  As of March 31, 2007, the Company employed a total of 286 

persons.  The Company sells its televisions under the Olevia brand name.  Syntax-Brillian is 

headquartered in Tempe, Arizona.  On July 8, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed for relief under 

Title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§101, et seq., in the United States Bankruptcy 

Court for the District of Delaware.  In re Syntax-Brillian Corp., et al., No. 08-11407 (BLS), 

U.S.B.C. (D. Del. 2008).  As a result of Syntax-Brillian’s filing for protection under the 

Bankruptcy Code, it has not been named as a defendant.  Plaintiffs, however, reserve the 

right to lift the bankruptcy stay to name Syntax-Brillian as a defendant. 

VI. DEFENDANTS 

21. Defendant Vincent F. Sollitto, Jr. (“Sollitto”) was the Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”) and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Syntax-Brillian during the Class Period.  

Sollitto served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Syntax-Brillian since November 

2005 and the CEO and a director of the Company since June 2003.  Sollitto also served as 

President of Syntax-Brillian from June 2003 until November 2005.  On October 1, 2007, the 

Company announced that Sollitto was being replaced by defendant James Ching Hua Li as 

CEO and that Sollitto would retain his role of Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board 

of Directors.  Sollitto signed numerous documents, including, but not limited to: (i) the 

Company’s Form 10-K/A for the year ended June 30, 2006 filed with the SEC on October 

20, 2006 and incorporated by reference into the Offering Documents; (ii) the Company’s 

Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 filed with the SEC on October 20, 2006 

and incorporated by reference into the Offering Documents; (iii) the Company’s Form 10-

Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 filed with the SEC on February 16, 2007 and 

incorporated by reference into the Offering Documents; (iv) the Company’s Form 10-Q for 

the quarter ended December 31, 2006 filed with the SEC on February 14, 2007 and 

incorporated by reference into the Offering Documents; (v) the Company’s Form S-3 

Registration Statement for the SPO filed with the SEC on April 6, 2007 which constituted 
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one of the Offering Documents; (vi) the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 

31, 2007 filed with the SEC on May 11, 2007 and incorporated by reference into the 

Offering Documents; and (vii) the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2007 

filed with the SEC on September 13, 2007. 

22. Defendant James Ching Hua Li (“Li”) was the President of Syntax-Brillian 

during the Class Period.  Li served as the President and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) 

and as a director of the Company since November 2005.  Li served as Syntax Group’s Chief 

Executive Officer from July 1, 2003 until Syntax Group’s merger with Syntax-Brillian in 

November 2005, and also co-founded Syntax Groups.  On October 1, 2007, Li replaced 

Sollitto as the Company’s CEO.  Li signed documents, including, but not limited to: (i) the 

Company’s Form S-3 Registration Statement for the SPO filed with the SEC on April 6, 

2007; and (ii) the Company’s 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 filed with 

the SEC on November 15, 2007. 

23. Defendant Wane A. Pratt (“Pratt”) was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer 

(“CFO”) during the Class Period.  Pratt served as Vice President, CFO, Secretary, and 

Treasurer of Syntax-Brillian since the Company’s formation.  Pratt left the Company on 

September 12, 2007, and was replaced by John S. Hodgson.  Pratt signed numerous 

documents, including, but not limited to: (i) the Company’s Form 10-K/A for the year ended 

June 30, 2006 filed with the SEC on October 20, 2006 and incorporated by reference into the 

Offering Documents; (ii) the Company’s Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 

filed with the SEC on October 20, 2006 and incorporated by reference into the Offering 

Documents; (iii) the Company’s Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 

filed with the SEC on February 16, 2007 and incorporated by reference into the Offering 

Documents; (iv) the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 filed 

with the SEC on February 14, 2007 and incorporated by reference into the Offering 

Documents; (v) the Company’s Form S-3 Registration Statement for the SPO filed with the 

SEC on April 6, 2007; (vi) the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007 

filed with the SEC on May 11, 2007 and incorporated by reference into the Offering 
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Documents; and (vii) the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2007 filed with 

the SEC on September 13, 2007. 

24. Defendant Man Kit (Thomas) Chow (“Chow”) was the Chief Procurement 

Officer of the Company and a director since November 2005.  Chow served as Syntax Group 

Corporation’s CFO from May 1, 2004, until Syntax Groups’ merger with Syntax-Brillian in 

November 2005.  Chow co-founded Lasertech Computer Distributor, Inc. in October 1994, a 

distributor of computer equipment, and formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of Syntax 

Groups, and served as its CFO until 2004.  Chow signed documents, including, but not 

limited to: (i) the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 filed with 

the SEC on February 14, 2007 and incorporated by reference into the Offering Documents; 

and (ii) the Company’s Form S-3 Registration Statement for the SPO filed with the SEC on 

April 6, 2007. 

25. Defendant John S. Hodgson (“Hodgson”) served as the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee of Syntax-Brillian’s Board of Directors from 2005 until September 2007 and as a 

director of Syntax-Brillian from November 2005 until his resignation on March 27, 2008.  

Hodgson additionally served as the Company’s CFO, Executive Vice President and 

Treasurer from October 2007 until his resignation on March 24, 2008.  Hodgson signed the 

Company’s Form S-3 Registration Statement for the SPO filed with the SEC on April 6, 

2007 and the Company’s Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 filed with 

the SEC on November 15, 2007. 

26. Defendants Sollitto, Li, Pratt and Chow (collectively, the “Individual 

Defendants”), by reason of their management positions, memberships on the Board of 

Directors, and ability to make public statements on behalf of Syntax-Brillian, were and are 

controlling persons, and had the power and influence to cause, and did cause, Syntax-Brillian 

to engage in the unlawful conduct complained of herein.  By reason of their positions with 

the Company, the Individual Defendants had access to internal Company documents, reports 

and other information regarding the Company’s revenues, account receivables, operating 

condition and future prospects, and attended management and/or Board of Director meetings.  
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The Individual Defendants were responsible for the truthfulness and accuracy of the 

Company’s public filings and press releases described herein.  The Individual Defendants, as 

officers and directors of a publicly-held company, also had a duty to disseminate truthful and 

accurate information with respect to Syntax-Brillian, its financial condition and to correct 

any public filings or statements issued by or on behalf of the Company that had become false 

or misleading.  The Individual Defendants are liable as direct participants in the wrongs 

complained of herein.  Additionally, the Individual Defendants, because of their positions 

with Syntax-Brillian, are responsible for Syntax-Brillian’s public filings and press releases, 

and are provided with copies of Syntax-Brillian’s public filings and press releases alleged 

herein to be misleading, prior to or shortly after their issuance and had the ability and 

opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Accordingly, the 

Individual Defendants are responsible for the accuracy of the public filings and press releases 

detailed herein, and are therefore primarily liable for the representations contained therein. 

27. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“Merrill”) is an 

integrated financial services institution that provides commercial banking services and acted 

as sole book-running manager for the Company’s SPO. 

28. UBS Securities LLC (“UBS”) is an integrated financial services institution that 

provides commercial banking services and acted as co-lead manager for the Company’s 

SPO. 

29. Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated (“Baird”) is an integrated financial 

services institution that provides commercial banking services and acted as co-manager for 

the Company’s SPO. 

30. Canaccord Adams Inc. (“Canaccord”) is an integrated financial services 

institution that provides commercial banking services and acted as co-manager for the 

Company’s SPO. 

31. Brean Murray, Carret & Co., LLC (“Brean”) is an integrated financial services 

institution that provides commercial banking services and acted as co-manager for the 

Company’s SPO. 
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32. Defendants Merrill, UBS, Baird, Canaccord and Brean are collectively the 

“Underwriter Defendants.” 

33. Grobstein, Horwath & Company LLP (“Grobstein”) is an independent 

registered public accounting firm.  Grobstein signed the Company’s Form 10-K/A for the 

year ended June 30, 2006, and, as set forth in ¶¶103-20, consented to the statements in the 

Offering Documents. 

34. For purposes of the claims brought pursuant to §§11 and 12(a)(2) of the 

Securities Act, the term “defendants” refers to defendants Sollitto, Li, Pratt, Chow, Hodgson, 

Merrill, UBS, Baird, Canaccord, Brean and Grobstein.  For purposes of the claims brought 

pursuant to §15 of the Securities Act, the term “defendants” refers to the defendants Sollitto, 

Li, Pratt and Chow. 

VII.  PLAINTIFFS’ CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

35. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class consisting of all persons and entities who 

purchased or otherwise acquired the common stock of Syntax-Brillian in the Offering and all 

persons who purchased or otherwise acquired the securities of Syntax-Brillian during the 

Class Period (the “Class”).  Excluded are defendants, any entity in which defendants have a 

controlling interest or is a parent or subsidiary of or is controlled by the Company, and the 

officers, directors, employees, affiliates, legal representatives, heirs, predecessors, successors 

and assigns of defendants. 

36. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiffs at this 

time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiffs believe there are at 

least thousands of members of the Class. 

37. Questions of law and fact are common to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions affecting solely individual members of the Class.  Among 

the questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 
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(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as 

alleged herein; 

(b) whether the Company issued false and misleading statements, or made 

material omissions during the Class Period; 

(c) whether the market prices of the Company’s securities during the Class 

Period were artificially inflated because of defendants’ conduct complained of herein; 

(d) whether the Company issued false and misleading statements, or made 

material omissions in connection with the SPO; and 

(e) whether the members of the Class have sustained damages and, if so, 

the proper measure of damages. 

38. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as 

plaintiffs and the other members of the Class each sustained damages arising out of the 

defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal laws as complained of herein. 

39. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and have retained counsel that are competent and experienced in class actions and 

securities litigation.  Plaintiffs have no interests antagonistic to or in conflict with those of 

the Class. 

40. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the controversy because joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable.  

Furthermore, because the damages suffered by the individual Class members may be 

relatively small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for the 

Class members individually to redress the wrongs done to them.  Plaintiffs anticipate no 

unusual difficulties in the management of this action as a class action. 

41. Plaintiffs will rely, in part, upon the presumption of reliance established by the 

fraud on the market doctrine in that: 

(a) defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose material 

facts during the Class Period; 

(b) such omissions and misrepresentations were material; 
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(c) the Company’s securities traded in an efficient market and their prices 

were inflated artificially during the Class Period because of defendants’ misrepresentations 

and omissions detailed herein; 

(d) the misrepresentations and omissions alleged induced a reasonable 

investor to misjudge the value of the Company’s securities; and 

(e) plaintiffs and the other members of the Class purchased Syntax-Brillian 

securities between the time defendants failed to disclose or misrepresented material facts and 

the time the true facts were disclosed, without knowledge of the omitted or misrepresented 

facts. 

42. Based upon the factors set forth, plaintiffs and the other members of the Class 

are entitled to the presumption of reliance upon the integrity of the market. 

COUNT I 

Against All Defendants for Violations of §11 of the Securities Act 

A. Plaintiff 

43. Named plaintiff the City of New Haven Policemen and Fireman’s Pension 

Fund purchased Syntax-Brillian stock in the SPO, as defined infra, as set forth in the 

certification previously submitted in this litigation, which is incorporated herein by 

reference.  This claim is brought by named plaintiff, on behalf of itself and other members of 

the Class, who purchased Syntax-Brillian’s common stock pursuant and/or traceable to the 

SPO.  Each Class member acquired their shares pursuant and/or traceable to the Offering 

Documents.  As a result of defendants’ false and misleading statements in the Offering 

Documents, named plaintiff and the Class purchased Syntax-Brillian common stock at 

artificially inflated prices.  The price of Syntax-Brillian stock declined significantly when the 

truth began to be publicly revealed about the Company’s adverse business and financial 

condition that defendants negligently overstated and named plaintiff and the Class were 

damaged as a proximate result. 
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B. Substantive Allegations 

44. The Count is brought pursuant to §11 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, on 

behalf of named plaintiff and the Class, against all defendants.  Named plaintiff and the 

Class only incorporate, repeat and reallege the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs.  This Count does not contain any allegations sounding in fraud.  Moreover, for 

purposes of this Count, named plaintiff and the Class affirmatively state that they do not 

claim that defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that defendants acted 

with scienter or fraudulent intent. 

45. On April 6, 2007, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form S-3 Registration Statement with 

the SEC for the SPO. 

46. On May 23, 2007, the Company announced the pricing of the SPO at $5.75 per 

share.  As Syntax-Brillian announced in the closing of the SPO, the Company sold 29.4 

million shares of its common stock (including 3,841,304 shares sold pursuant to the exercise 

in full by the underwriters of their overallotment option) at a public offering price of $5.75 

per share.  Gross proceeds (after deducting the underwriting discount but before expenses) 

were approximately $143.3 million to Syntax-Brillian and approximately $16.3 million to 

the selling stockholders in the SPO. 

C. False Statements Contained Within the Offering Documents 

47. The Offering Documents contained financial information regarding Syntax-

Brillian’s operations as reflected by the attached Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by 

reference. 

48. The Offering Documents also set forth the percentage of net sales of certain 

items in Syntax-Brillian’s financial statements as reflected by the attached Exhibit B, which 

is incorporated herein by reference. 

49. The Offering Documents also included consolidated statements of operations 

data as reflected by the attached Exhibit C, which is incorporated herein by reference. 
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50. On May 24, 2007, the Company filed a Prospectus Supplement with the SEC 

in connection with the SPO.  In the Prospectus Supplement, defendants made the following 

representations: 

• Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of 
operations are based upon our financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) in the United States; and 

• We recognize revenue from product sales when persuasive evidence of a 
sale exists; that is, a product is shipped under an agreement with a 
customer, risk of loss and title has passed to the customer, the fee is fixed 
and determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably 
assured. 

51. The Prospectus Supplement also highlighted the growing importance of sales 

to SCHOT to the Company’s reported growth in revenues and profitability.  The Prospectus 

Supplement stated that “[n]et sales in Asia [SCHOT] totaled $249.5 million, or 50.7% of 

total net sales, for the first three quarters of fiscal 2007 compared with $12.9 million, or 

9.7% of total net sales, for the first three quarters of fiscal 2006.” 

52. The Company also disclosed that SCHOT was past-due on a portion of the 

money owed to the Company.  Nonetheless, the Company attributed the past due accounts to 

temporary “seasonal” factors.  The Prospectus Supplement states: 

As of March 31, 2007, accounts receivable from our Asian distributor totaled 
$170.8 million, of which approximately $47.2 million was past due.  From 
April 1, 2007 through May 9, 2007, we collected $37.7 million of these 
accounts receivable but more invoices became past due.  As of May 9, 2007, 
$69.0 million of the accounts receivable from our Asian distributor were past 
due.  We believe that this payment lag from our distributor is seasonal in 
nature and anticipate a return to compliance with payment terms by June 
30, 2007. 

D. False Statements Incorporated by Reference into the Offering Documents 

53. The Offering Documents incorporated by reference the following Syntax-

Brillian SEC filings: 

(a) Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended June 30, 2006 filed 

with the SEC on October 20, 2006; 
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(b) Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 filed with the SEC 

on October 20, 2006; 

(c) Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 filed with the 

SEC on February 16, 2007; 

(d) Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 filed with the SEC 

on February 14, 2007; and 

(e) Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007 filed with the SEC on 

May 11, 2007. 

54. In the Company’s SEC filings that were incorporated by reference into the 

Offering Documents, defendants made the following representations: 

Form 10-K/A for the Year Ended June 30, 2006 

• Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of 
operations are based upon our financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) in the United States; 

• We recognize revenue from product sales when persuasive evidence of 
a sale exists; that is, a product is shipped under an agreement with a 
customer, risk of loss and title has passed to the customer, the fee is 
fixed and determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is 
reasonably assured; and 

• We have evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as of June 30, 2006.  Based on this evaluation, 
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have each 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to 
ensure that we record, process, summarize, and report information 
required to be disclosed by us in our quarterly reports filed under the 
Securities Exchange Act within the time periods specified by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.  There was no 
change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most 
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely 
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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Form 10-Q/A for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2006 

• We recognize revenue from product sales, net of estimated returns, 
when persuasive evidence of a sale exists; that is, a product is shipped 
under an agreement with a customer; risk of loss and title has passed to 
the customer, the fee is fixed or determinable; and collection of he 
resulting receivable is reasonably assured;  

• Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of 
operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) in the United States; and 

• As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed and evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, which included 
inquires made to certain other of our employees.  Based on their 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
have each concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective and sufficient to ensure that we record, process, summarize, 
and report information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic 
reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act within the time periods 
specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and 
forms.  During the quarterly period covered by this report, there have 
not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting. 

Form 10-Q/A for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2006 

• The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial 
information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of 
Regulation S-X. . . .  In our opinion, all adjustments, which include 
only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for all periods 
presented have been made; 

• We recognize revenue from product sales, net of estimated returns, 
when persuasive evidence of a sale exists: that is, a product is shipped 
under an agreement with a customer; risk of loss and title has passed to 
the customer; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collection of the 
resulting receivable is reasonably assured; and 

• As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed and evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, which included 
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inquiries made to certain other of our employees.  Based on their 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
have each concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective and sufficient to ensure that we record, process, summarize, 
and report information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic 
reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act within the time periods 
specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and 
forms.  During the quarterly period covered by this report, there have 
not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2006 

• The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial 
information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of 
Regulation S-X. . . .  In our opinion, all adjustments, which include 
only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for all periods 
presented have been made; 

• We recognize revenue from product sales, net of estimated returns, 
when persuasive evidence of a sale exists: that is, a product is shipped 
under an agreement with a customer; risk of loss and title has passed to 
the customer; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collection of the 
resulting receivable is reasonably assured; and 

• As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed and evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, which included 
inquiries made to certain other of our employees.  Based on their 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
have each concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective and sufficient to ensure that we record, process, summarize, 
and report information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic 
reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act within the time periods 
specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and 
forms.  During the quarterly period covered by this report, there have 
not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2007 

• The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles applicable to interim financial 
information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of 
Regulation S-X. . . .  In our opinion, all adjustments, which include 
only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for all periods 
presented have been made; 

• We recognize revenue from product sales, net of estimated returns, 
when persuasive evidence of a sale exists: that is, a product is shipped 
under an agreement with a customer; risk of loss and title has passed to 
the customer; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collection of the 
resulting receivable is reasonably assured; and 

• As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed and evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, which included 
inquiries made to certain other of our employees.  Based on their 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
have each concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective and sufficient to ensure that we record, process, summarize, 
and report information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic 
reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act within the time periods 
specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and 
forms.  During the quarterly period covered by this report, there have 
not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

55. The Company’s SEC filings that were incorporated by reference into the 

Offering Documents also include the following financial information regarding the 

Company: 

Form 10-Q/A for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2006 

56. See the attached Exhibit D, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2006 

57. See the attached Exhibit E, which is incorporated herein by reference. 
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Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2007 

58. See the attached Exhibit F, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

59. The Company’s SEC filings that were incorporated by reference into the 

Offering Documents also contained Sarbanes-Oxley (“SOX”) required certifications, signed 

by Sollitto and Pratt, that stated: 

I, [Vincent F. Sollitto, Jr. and Wayne A. Pratt], certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this [annual or quarterly report] of Syntax-Brillian 
Corporation; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows 
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the 
registrant and we have: 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused 
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure 
controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth 
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based 
on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
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registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
function): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 
design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management 
or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

In connection with the [annual or quarterly report] of Syntax-Brillian 
Corporation (the “Company”) for the [relevant period] as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, 
[Vincent F. Sollitto, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Wayne 
A. Pratt, Chief Financial Officer of the Company], certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C., Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 
78o(d)); and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

E. The Truth Begins to Emerge 

60. On September 12, 2007, the Company issued a press release entitled “Syntax-

Brillian Corporation Reports Fourth-Quarter and Full Year Financial Results: Record 

Revenue, Increased Gross Margins, and a Swing to Profitability Are among the Milestones 

Achieved During Fiscal 2007.”  The Company stated: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation, a leading designer, developer, and distributor of 
LCD and LCoS(TM) HDTVs and digital imaging products, today announced 
financial results for its fiscal 2007 fourth quarter and full year ended June 30, 
2007. 

For the quarter ended June 30, 2007, Syntax-Brillian reported revenue 
of $205.3 million, up 243% from revenue of $59.8 million in the year-ago 
quarter.  Full year revenue was $697.6 million, up 261% from revenue of 
$193.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2006. 

* * * 

“We are extremely pleased with the company’s performance for fiscal 
2007,” said Vincent F. Sollitto, Jr., Chairman and CEO of Syntax-Brillian.  
“The Olevia brand enjoys an outstanding reputation in performance and 
quality, and demand continues to exceed our sourcing capabilities.  In 
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addition, the response to the Vivitar founding sponsorship at the O2, an 
entertainment complex near the financial district in London, promises to 
increase demand and profitability of our digital camera products, especially in 
Europe.  Unit shipments in the fourth-quarter exceeded our expectations as we 
experienced strong sell-through in our U.S. channels, aided in part by new 
retail partners as well as continued acceptance of the Olevia brand by 
consumers.” 

* * * 

Additionally, Syntax-Brillian completed its acquisition of Vivitar 
Corporation on November 21, 2006.  Revenue for Vivitar for the three and 
twelve months ended June 30, 2007 was $14.6 million and $41.4 million, 
respectively. 

The merger of Syntax and Brillian was completed on November 30, 
2005.  Accordingly, the results of operations for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2006 include only the operations of Syntax prior to the merger. 

Syntax-Brillian ended the June 30, 2007 quarter with cash, cash 
equivalents, and short-term investments of $28.7 million; working capital of 
$238.6 million; and stockholders’ equity of $315.5 million.  At June 30, 2007, 
Syntax-Brillian had $78.1 million outstanding under its revolving credit lines. 

* * * 

Business Outlook 

Syntax-Brillian also provided the following business outlook for its 
quarter ending September 30, 2007 and the calendar year ending December 
31, 2007.  The current business outlook is reflective of a severe tightening of 
credit in Asia that has significantly impacted the bank and other credit 
facilities of our supply chain partners.  As a result of the tighter credit 
environment in Asia, we believe that the combined credit availability of our 
supply chain partners has been reduced by over $200 million.  The current 
business outlook also reflects Syntax-Brillian’s decision to take a more 
cautious approach to sales in Asia. 

For the quarter ending September 30, 2007, Syntax-Brillian 
anticipates revenue in the range of $170 million to $180 million, 
predominately from sales of LCD TVs on shipments of approximately 270,000 
to 290,000 units.  Gross margins for the quarter are anticipated to be in the 
range of 15% to 17%. 

For the calendar year ending December 31, 2007, Syntax-Bril1ian 
anticipates revenue in the range of $1.0 billion to $1.1 billion, and gross 
margins in the range of 16% to 18%. 

61. On September 13, 2007, Syntax-Brillian  filed its Annual Report with the SEC 

on Form 10-K, in which the Company stated: 
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Controls and Procedures 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or 
submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the 
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information 
is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosures. 

An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the 
participation of management, including the Chief-Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures, as such term defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the 
Exchange Act as of June 30, 2007.  Based on this evaluation, our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as a result of 
the material weaknesses set forth below, our disclosure controls and 
procedures were ineffective as of June 30, 2007. 

* * * 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act.  Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002, our management is required to assess the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of the end of each fiscal year and report, 
based on that assessment, whether our internal control over financial reporting 
is effective. 

Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting 
purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted a review, 
evaluation, and assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting as of June 30, 2007 based upon the criteria set forth in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

Based on these review activities, our management concluded that our 
internal control over financial reporting was ineffective as of June 30, 2007 
because of the following material weaknesses: 

Inventory Process – Controls over physical inventory receiving, counting 
and movement as well as inventory cut-off, and valuation were inadequate. 

Revenue Process – Controls over the revenue recognition cut-off were 
inadequate.  Our revenue cut-off procedures at June 30, 2007 improperly 
reversed product in transit that should have been recorded as sales in the 
appropriate accounting period. 
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Income Tax Provision Process – Controls over the review and preparation 
of our income tax provision were inadequate.  Our provision improperly 
understated our income taxes payable balance by a material amount. 

Financial Statement Close Procedures – Our independent registered public 
accounting firm identified a number of adjustments which were in addition 
to those relating to the material weaknesses identified above.  This has 
caused us to conclude that controls related to our analysis, evaluation, and 
review of the Company’s 2007 financial information which gave rise to the 
adjustments has resulted in a material weakness.  The specific control 
deficiencies consisted of: 

• The review and analysis of the subjective areas of reserves and 
allowances has insufficient controls over certain subjective 
estimates in evaluating the propriety of the related ending 
balances.  The review control did not call for a critical 
evaluation of the inputs that should be used in the estimation 
process to evaluate the propriety of the period ending balances 
which weakness resulted in material reductions to the related 
allowance for doubtful accounts and warranty reserve in the 
Company’s 2007 financial statements. 

• An inappropriate level of review of certain significant financial 
statement accounts and financial statement disclosures in non-
subjective areas to verify the propriety of the recorded and 
reported amounts; insufficient analysis, documentation, review, 
and oversight of the financial statements of foreign subsidiary 
financial information during consolidation; and 

• Insufficient staffing of the accounting and financial reporting 
function. 

In aggregate, these control deficiencies result in a more than remote 
likelihood that a material misstatement to our annual or interim 
consolidated financial statements could occur and not be prevented or 
detected in a timely manner.  The foregoing material weakness resulted in 
adjustments to certain accounts in the Company’s 2007 financial statements, 
including fixed assets, other current and long-term assets, accounts payable, 
accrued liabilities and other operating expenses. 

Because of the material weaknesses described above, management’s 
assessment is a conclusion that, as of June 30, 2007, our internal control 
over financial reporting was not effective based on the COSO criteria.  The 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2007 
has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public 
accounting firm.  Ernst & Young’s attestation report on the effectiveness of 
our internal control over financial reporting is included on page F-4 of this 
report. 

On November 21, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of 
Vivitar, Inc.  The 2007 consolidated financial statements of Vivitar constituted 



 

- 25 - 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

$39.3 million and $20.7 million of total assets and net assets, respectively, as 
of June 30, 2007 and $41.4 million and $3.7 million of revenues and net loss, 
respectively for the year ended June 30, 2007.  We have not yet completed our 
evaluation of the design and operation of the disclosure controls and 
procedures for this consolidated subsidiary as of June 30, 2007.  We did not 
assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting at this 
entity because we delayed our assessment based on time and resource 
constraints until our internal audit of the documented controls is completed as 
allowed by Securities and Exchange Commission rules.  We expect to 
complete such evaluation fiscal 2008. 

Remediation of Material Weaknesses 

Management considers the outstanding material weaknesses, as well as 
the overall control environment, seriously and is in the process of 
implementing remediation plans to address our material weaknesses.  
Management is in the process of taking the following actions to improve our 
internal controls over financial reporting: 

1. Inventory remediation includes the following changes to our inventory 
 receiving, physical counting and cut-off procedures: 

a. New senior management has been hired to control inventory and 
warehousing, including contract manufacturers who utilize our 
inventories; and 

b. Written confirmations are being obtained from contract 
manufacturers disclosing all 3rd party owned inventory 
locations; and 

c. Senior management has implemented new policies and 
procedures for receiving and recording all inbound inventory 
receipts; and 

d. Senior management is confirming overseas supplier shipments-
in-transit monthly. 

2. Revenue remediation includes the following changes to our revenue 
cut-off procedures: 

a. Management has implemented new cut-off testing procedures 
based on recommendations by our independent registered public 
accounting firm; and 

b. Management plans to independently verify receipt dates for 
material shipments. 

3. Income tax provision process remediation will include: 

a. Management has hired a third party firm to assist us with 
provision preparation; and 

b. Processes are being implemented to determine appropriate tax 
considerations are included in the tax provision preparation. 
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4. Financial close procedure remediation includes the following changes 
to our processes and controls: 

a. Reserves and Allowances Process remediation will include: 

 i. Management is re-evaluating methodologies used to 
 compute judgmental reserves and allowances and their 
 related assumptions.  The basis for the assumptions is 
 being reviewed and consideration is being given to the 
 way data is accumulated; and 

 ii. Management’s review process of the judgmental reserves 
  is being evaluated as is the appropriateness of review  
  levels. 

b. Management is implementing enhanced account reconciliation 
and review disciplines; and 

c. Management will be enhancing our closing procedures by 
assigning responsibilities for the accumulation and review of 
information; and 

d. Staffing levels are in the process of being reviewed to assess the 
depth of skill set and optimum number of personnel to have in 
the various accounting and reporting functions to address this 
matter. 

62. Additionally, the Company’s Form 10-K contained a report from Ernst & 

Young LLP (“E&Y”), an independent registered public accounting firm who audited Syntax-

Brillian’s internal controls over financial reporting for the reporting period.  The E&Y report 

stated in relevant part: 

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and 
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did 
not include the internal controls of Vivitar, Inc., which is included in the 2007 
consolidated financial statements of Syntax-Brillian Corporation and 
constituted $39.3 million and $20.7 million of total assets and net assets, 
respectively, as of June 30, 2007 and $41.4 million and $3.7 million of 
revenues and net loss, respectively for the year ended June 30, 2007.  Our 
audit of internal control over financial reporting of Syntax-Brillian 
Corporation also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over 
financial reporting of Vivitar. 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.  The 
following material weaknesses have been identified and included in 
management’s assessment.  Management has identified a material weakness 
in controls related to the company’s inventory process, revenue process, 
reserves and allowances process, income tax provision process and financial 
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statement close procedures.  These material weaknesses were considered in 
determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of 
the 2007 financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated 
September 7, 2007 on those financial statements. 

In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses 
described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, 
Syntax-Brillian Corporation has not maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of June 30, 2007, based on the COSO criteria. 

63. On this news, the Company’s shares fell $2.12 per share, or over 34.5%, to 

close on September 13, 2007 at $4.01 per share, on unusually heavy trading volume. 

64. On November 8, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced its results for the first fiscal 

quarter of 2008 for the period ended September 30, 2007.  The results were significantly 

worse than what the Company announced on September 12, 2007, when less than three 

weeks remained in the quarter.  Revenues were $150.6 million, significantly below the $170 

to $180 million that had been projected in September, and LCD sales in China were $14.6 

million, a decline of approximately 85% from 4Q07. 

65. Syntax-Brillian also announced, for the first time, that it had ended its primary 

distributor agreement with SCHOT.  Rather than manufacturing and shipping televisions 

directly to SCHOT, and immediately recording the revenue, Syntax-Brillian announced that 

it would now license the Olevia brand in Asia to a third party, Olevia Far East.  Olevia Far 

East would be responsible for all aspects of selling the televisions in Asia – manufacturing, 

marketing and selling – and Syntax-Brillian would just receive a fee for each television sold. 

66. On November 15, 2007, before the market opened, Syntax-Brillian filed its 

Form 10-Q for 1Q08.  In the Form 10-Q, the Company revealed that, of the $123.2 million 

owed to the Company by SCHOT, $98 million was more than 120-days past due as of 

November 8, 2007.  On November 15, 2007, shares of Syntax-Brillian closed at $2.89, a 

decline of 10% from the prior day’s closing price. 

67. Then, on February 11, 2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that it would require 

additional time to release its financial statements for the quarter ended December 31, 2007.  

In a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian Corporation Announces Delay of Fiscal Second 
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Quarter 2008 Earnings and Provides Preliminary Fiscal Second Quarter 2008 Update and an 

Inventory Repurchase,” the Company stated, in relevant part: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation today announced that the company needs 
additional time to complete its financial statements for its second fiscal quarter 
ended December 31, 2007.  The company needs additional time in order to 
evaluate its accounting treatment related to its tooling deposits.  As a result, 
Syntax-Brillian will not release its fiscal second quarter 2008 results on 
February 11th, as previous anticipated.  As this time, no date has been set for 
the second quarter release. 

Preliminary Fiscal Second Quarter 2008 Update and an Inventory 
Repurchase 

The company recently received indications that due to a delay in the 
build out of the 2008 Beijing Olympic facilities, a large number of LCD TVs 
already sold through the company’s distributors in China, had not been 
deployed.  As a result, Syntax-Brillian initiated negotiations to repurchase 
the LCD TVs for redistribution primarily into the North America retail 
channel.  The inventory repurchase reduces accounts receivable from our 
customers in China by $99 million brining the remaining balance to 
approximately $63 million, of which $48 million is due from South China 
House of Technology (“SCHOT”) and $15 million is due from Olevia Far 
East. 

In the December quarter, total units shipped was approximately 
252,000 which were shipped to North America and royalty revenue collected 
from China sales to Olevia Far East was approximately $3.2 million on until 
volume of approximately 390,000.  The inventory repurchase was 
approximately 26,800 units. 

F. The Company’s Admission that the Financial Information Contained in and 
 Incorporated into the Offering Documents Was False 

68. On April 18, 2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that the Company’s financial 

statements should no longer be relied on and that it was likely that the Company would 

restate its financial statements.  Specifically, in a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian 

Provides Financial Statement Update,” the Company stated, in relevant part: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation, today announced that as previously stated on 
February 11, 2008, Syntax-Brillian management, working with the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors, has been evaluating its accounting 
treatment related to tooling deposits with a manufacturing partner.  Based on 
the preliminary findings of the review of the accounting for the tooling 
deposits, as well as certain sales transactions with the Company’s Asian 
distributors, management and the Audit Committee believe that the financial 
statements for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and the interim periods 
contained therein, and the first fiscal quarter of 2008 may likely require 
restatement, and the financial disclosures within these previously-issued 
financial statements may likely be changed.  As such, the Company’s 
financial statements for these periods should no longer be relied upon. 
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At the present time, the Company is uncertain as to the resulting impact 
on its financial statements or when the Audit Committee’s review of these 
accounting matters will be completed. 

69. In its Form 8-K filed on April 18, 2008, Syntax-Brillian made the following 

disclosures: 

On April 15, 2008, our audit committee of the Board of Directors 
concluded that our previously issued financial statements 

(i) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2007, as included in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) on September 13, 
2007, as well as the audit report on such financial statements 
previously issued by our independent registered public 
accounting firm, and the related report on internal controls by 
such independent registered public accounting firm; 

(ii) as of and for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, December 
31, 2006, and March 31, 2007, as included in our Quarterly 
Reports on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 
9, 2006, February 14, 2007, as amended by Amendment No. 1 
to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed with the 
Commission on February 16, 2007, and May 11, 2007, 
respectively; and 

(iii) as of and for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, as included 
in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the 
Commission on November 14, 2007, as amended by 
Amendment No. 1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A 
filed with the Commission on November 15, 2007 

should no longer be relied upon as a result of our determination that 
restatements and changes to disclosures within our previously issued financial 
statements may likely be necessary.  Upon our analysis of specified 
accounting issues, including our tooling deposit accounting and sales 
transactions with certain of our Asian distributors, we have determined that 
further evaluation of these issues may be required to conclude on the impact 
on the previously issued financial statements for the above-referenced 
periods. 

The restatements and change to disclosures, if necessary, will be 
reflected in an amendment to our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year 
ended June 30, 2007 and amendments to our Quarterly Report on Forms 10-
Q/A for the quarters ended September 30, 2006, December 31, 2006, March 
31, 2007, and September 30, 2007, which we intend to file with the 
Commission as soon as practicable. 

Our audit committee has discussed the matters contained herein with 
Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. 
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70. On July 8, 2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that it had filed a voluntary 

petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United 

States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. 

71. On July 21, 2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that the NASDAQ Listing 

Qualifications Hearing Panel had determined to delist the Company’s stock from the 

NASDAQ stock market and to suspend trading of the stock at the open of business on July 

22, 2008.  Syntax-Brillian stated that the Company’s previously reported NASDAQ Listing 

violations and its July 8, 2008 filing for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States 

Bankruptcy Code served as a basis for delisting the Company’s securities. 

G. Reasons Why Defendants’ Statements in the Offering Documents Were False 
 and Misleading 

72. Syntax-Brillian issued financial statements and earnings releases filed with the 

SEC throughout the Class Period and also in connection with the SPO that were materially 

false and misleading and not presented in accordance with GAAP.   

73. GAAP are those principles recognized by the accounting profession as the 

conventions, rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a 

particular time.  SEC Regulation S-X (17 C.F.R. §210.4-01(a)(1)) states that financial 

statements filed with the SEC that are not prepared in compliance with GAAP are presumed 

to be misleading and inaccurate, despite footnotes and other disclosure.  Regulation S-X 

requires that interim financial statements must also comply with GAAP, with the exception 

that interim financial statements need not include disclosure that would be duplicative of 

disclosures accompanying annual disclosures, per 17 C.F.R. §210.10-01(a). 

74. The original representations that Syntax-Brillian’s financial statements were 

properly stated and a fair representation of Syntax-Brillian’s financial condition were false 

and misleading, as the financial information was neither in conformity with GAAP, nor was 

the financial information a “fair representation” of Syntax-Brillian’s financial condition.  

Ultimately, in its bankruptcy filing on July 8, 2008, Syntax-Brillian admitted that the 

Company ceased operations because its “cost of goods sold was simply too high for the 
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business to make a sustainable margin” – a far different story than what had been 

communicated to investors throughout the Class Period and in the SPO.  Syntax-Brillian was 

able to hide this disturbing trend of unprofitable operations through the use of several 

improper accounting schemes that overstated revenues, margins, and earnings per share.  

These accounting schemes included: 

• the improper and premature recognition of revenue whereby Syntax-
Brillian’s primary distributor, SCHOT (representing as much as 40% of 
quarterly sales volume), was not required to pay for products until they 
resold the products to end-user customers and was allowed to return 
unsold products; and 

• the round tripping and improper accounting for “tooling deposits” 
whereby Syntax-Brillian’s main supplier, a related party, received large 
cash advances from Syntax-Brillian and in return, the supplier issued 
large non-cash “vendor rebates” and other credits at the end of each 
quarter to help Syntax-Brillian boost reported earnings and margins. 

75. Syntax-Brillian improperly recognized revenue on shipments of products to 

Chinese distributors in violation of GAAP, including SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 

104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements and FASB Statement of Concepts No. 5, 

Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises (“SAB No. 

104”). 

76. SCHOT, an Asian electronics distributor, was Syntax-Brillian’s largest 

customer, making up as much as 40% to 50% of total sales volume in some periods.  Syntax-

Brillian recorded revenue upon shipment of products to SCHOT.  These shipments and the 

related sales agreements did not meet the criteria for revenue recognition, as shipping 

products to SCHOT amounted to nothing more than consignment sales in Asia which 

allowed Syntax-Brillian to record revenue.  SCHOT had no obligation to pay for the 

products until they found an end-user customer and received payments themselves.  This is 

consistent with the huge receivable balances SCHOT had with Syntax-Brillian; while the 

Company claimed the sometimes in excess of $150 million receivable balance was due to 

“customary 120-day trade terms in Asia” or “seasonality” – the truth is that SCHOT simply 
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was not obligated to pay for any products shipped to them until the products were sold to an 

end-user customer.  This arrangement with SCHOT is highlighted by a single large 

transaction that boosted Syntax-Brillian’s revenues. 

77. In the fall of 2007, approximately 26,000 large screen HDTVs were “sold” to 

SCHOT which were intended to be resold to the Chinese government for installation in the 

Olympic Village in Beijing.  The Chinese government, however, refused to accept the 

televisions and were returned to SCHOT and Kolin (who manufactured the televisions on 

behalf of Syntax-Brillian).  Although the televisions had been delivered to SCHOT in the 

preceding quarters and Syntax-Brillian had already recorded the revenue, on February 11, 

2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that they were repurchasing approximately 26,800 unsold 

televisions at a cost of $100 million. 

78. This transaction with SCHOT was nothing more than a consignment sale 

which allowed Syntax-Brillian to prematurely recognize revenue in violation of GAAP.  

SAB No. 104 clearly states that revenue recognition is not appropriate in a sales arrangement 

amounting to consignment sales: 

The staff believes that revenue recognition is not appropriate because the 
seller retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the product and title 
usually does not pass to the consignee. 

Other situations may exist where title to delivered products passes to a buyer, 
but the substance of the transaction is that of a consignment or a financing.  
Such arrangements require a careful analysis of the facts and circumstances 
of the transaction, as well as an understanding of the rights and obligations 
of the parties, and the seller’s customary business practices in such 
arrangements.  The staff believes that the presence of one or more of the 
following characteristics in a transaction precludes revenue recognition 
even if title to the product has passed to the buyer: 

1. The buyer has the right to return the product and: 

(a) the buyer does not pay the seller at the time of sale, and the 
buyer is not obligated to pay the seller at a specified date or 
dates. 

(b) the buyer does not pay the seller at the time of sale but rather 
is obligated to pay at a specified date or dates, and the buyer’s 
obligation to pay is contractually or implicitly excused until 
the buyer resells the product or subsequently consumes or uses 
the product, 
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(c) the buyer’s obligation to the seller would be changed (e.g., the 
seller would forgive the obligation or grant a refund) in the 
event of theft or physical destruction or damage of the 
product, 

(d) the buyer acquiring the product for resale does not have 
economic substance apart from that provided by the seller, or 

(e) the seller has significant obligations for future performance to 
directly bring about resale of the product by the buyer. 

2. The seller is required to repurchase the product (or a substantially 
identical product or processed goods of which the product is a component) at 
specified prices that are not subject to change except for fluctuations due to 
finance and holding costs, and the amounts to be paid by the seller will be 
adjusted, as necessary, to cover substantially all fluctuations in costs 
incurred by the buyer in purchasing and holding the product (including 
interest).  The staff believes that indicators of the latter condition include: 

(a) the seller provides interest-free or significantly below market 
financing to the buyer beyond the seller’s customary sales 
terms and until the products are resold, 

(b) the seller pays interest costs on behalf of the buyer under a 
third-party financing arrangement, or 

(c) the seller has a practice of refunding (or intends to refund) a 
portion of the original sales price representative of interest 
expense for the period from when the buyer paid the seller 
until the buyer resells the product. 

3. The transaction possesses the characteristics set forth in EITF Issue 
95-1 and does not qualify for sales-type lease accounting. 

4.  The product is delivered for demonstration purposes. 

79. The transactions with SCHOT also violated even more basic principles of 

GAAP revenue recognition.  SAB No. 104 clearly and concisely states that revenue is 

realized or realizable and earned only if and when all of the following criteria are met: 

• Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, with the term 
“arrangement” meaning the final understanding between the parties as 
to the specific nature and terms of the agreed-upon transaction; 

• Delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; 

• The seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and 

• Collectibility is reasonably assured. 
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80. Clearly, the last requirement was not met as evidenced by Syntax-Brillian 

allowing SCHOT to not pay for products until they were sold to end-user customers, which 

created huge outstanding receivable balances that were never guaranteed to be paid.  In fact, 

in the case of the Olympic Village transaction, those receivables were written-off and the 

products accepted back from SCHOT after the Chinese government denied delivery. 

81. In addition, Syntax-Brillian violated the overarching accounting principle that 

revenues and gains should not be recognized in financial statements until they are both 

earned and realizable.  Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of 

Concepts No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business 

Enterprises, states: 

Revenues and gains generally are not recognized until realized or realizable.  
Revenues and gains are realized when products (goods or services), 
merchandise, or other assets are exchanged for cash or claims to cash.  
Revenues and gains are realizable when related assets received or held are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash or claims to cash.  [¶83(a)]. 

Revenues are not recognized until earned.  An entity’s revenue-earning 
activities involve delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or other 
activities that constitute its ongoing major or central operations, and revenues 
are considered to have been earned when the entity has substantially 
accomplished what it must do to be entitled to the benefits represented by the 
revenues.  [¶83(b)]. 

The two conditions (being realized or realizable and being earned) are usually 
met by the time product or merchandise is delivered or services are rendered to 
customers.  [¶84(a)]. 

82. For the Olympic Village transaction, according to CW1, 65” flat panel 

televisions were returned to the Company from SCHOT.3  CW1 stated that approximately 

$100 million worth of the 65” televisions were shipped from Kolin to a middleman (probably 

a customs agent) and then to SCHOT.  SCHOT would then ship the televisions to end-users 

                                              

3  The allegations of falsity pled herein are made on information and belief and are 
supported by the first-hand accounts of Confidential Witnesses (“CWs”) that are former 
employees of Syntax-Brillian.  Confidential Witnesses have been identified with as much 
particularity as possible without disclosing their identities.  Plaintiffs are informed and 
believe that disclosing the witnesses’ identities publicly, and/or to defendants, could result in 
serious injury to the witnesses or their careers.  CW1 was the Corporate Controller and Chief 
Accounting Officer from August 2006 until October 2007. 
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or other distributors.  Most of the 65” televisions were supposed to supply the Chinese 

Olympics in August 2008.  According to CW1, Syntax-Brillian booked the sale and 

receivable at the time Kolin shipped the televisions to the customs agent. 

83. SCHOT had 120-day payment terms with Syntax-Brillian but, according to 

CW1, in reality, the payment terms were closer to 150 or 160 days because SCHOT would 

not pay the Company until they had re-sold the televisions.  According to CW1, the 65” 

televisions were booked as revenue in 3Q07/4Q07 (January through June 2007) and were 

likely returned between December 2007 and March 2008.  According to CW1, after Syntax-

Brillian accepted the returned televisions, the Company sold them to Costco and other low 

cost warehouse retailers below cost.  As far as CW1 knew, there was never a written policy 

with SCHOT on the terms of returning merchandise.4 

84. Accordingly, the sales terms with SCHOT were such that it rendered them 

consignment sales and were improperly and prematurely recorded by the Company in 

violation of SAB No. 104.5 

                                              

4  CW2 added that Li was the “architect” of Syntax-Brillian’s relationship with SCHOT.  
CW2 was the Vice President of Sales for the LCoS Division in Boulder, Colorado from 2005 
through October 2007.  CW2 reported to Sollitto while still at Brillian and to Li once Syntax 
and Brillian merged.  CW2 was the sole salesman for Syntax-Brillian’s LCoS, garnering 
sales of $3 to $4 million per year.  CW2 also sold LCD televisions to distributors in the 
United States and South America. 

5  These sorts of detrimental verbal agreements were also common between the 
Company and Kolin.  CW1 discovered instances where money was wired to Kolin with 
absolutely no documentation.  CW1 and CW3, who served as Syntax-Brillian’s Internal 
Auditor in the City of Industry, California, described Li as the person “calling the shots” 
with respect to all of Syntax-Brillian’s dealings with Kolin.  CW1 would follow up with Li 
or Syntax-Brillian’s Controller in City of Industry, Alice (“Alicia”) Phang, seeking their 
explanation as to the purpose of the money transfers and would be told by either of them that 
Li agreed to purchase product for Kolin.  CW1 would then request that Li and Phang provide 
documentation (purchase order, contract, shipping terms, etc.) and remind them that verbal 
agreements for purchases or sales with Kolin had to be properly documented.  CW1 
explained to Li and Phang that lack of documentation was unacceptable for internal control 
and SOX compliance.  CW1 was therefore not surprised that E&Y ultimately concluded 
Syntax-Brillian was not in compliance with SOX.  CW3 added that the internal controls at 
the Company were even worse than what was reflected in the E&Y report due to the culture 
of secrecy and control by Li and Phang. 
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 1. Syntax-Brillian Changes Their Revenue Recognition Policy for   
  Shipments to SCHOT 

85. In 2008, the Company was forced to acknowledge its revenue recognition 

deficiencies associated with the SCHOT arrangement.  On their fiscal year 2007 earnings 

call, the Company stated: “The current [fiscal year 2008] business outlook also reflects 

Syntax-Brillian’s decision to take a more cautious approach to sales in Asia.”  The next 

quarter, the impact of no longer recording revenue upon shipment to SCHOT became 

apparent when, for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, the Company announced that their 

new revenue-recognition model caused $56.1 million worth of shipments to SCHOT be 

deferred as revenue until the products were sold to end-user customers.  Going forward, the 

change caused a drastic 50% reduction in the Company’s fiscal year 2008 revenue guidance.  

Syntax-Brillian also announced that, excluding sales through its Chinese distributor, revenue 

expectations were $650 to $685 million – down from the original fiscal year 2008 revenue 

guidance of $1.1 to $1.3 billion. 

86. Even the Chinese banks doubted the validity of the sales to SCHOT and would 

no longer allow Syntax-Brillian to borrow against the receivables because there was no 

assurance of collectibility.  Sollitto explained this problem in an October 2007 interview: 

[The SCHOT receivables] is a concentration of AR and we were 
unsuccessful in finding a bank that would provide us with either factoring 
or AR financing because we were once-removed from the actual retailers, so 
we made a decision to change from a distributor relationship – a stocking 
distributor, they took ownership of the product – to a rep company structure 
whereby they still do everything they did before, they still hire the people, 
deliver the product, provide the logistics and all that, but now we pay them a 
commission as opposed to revenue and the revenue and the AR now comes 
to us from a dozen retailers in China and Hong Kong who are guys like Best 
Buy and Circuit City and Target – the Gomes, the Five Stars and Broadways 
and Fortresses – who are internationally known as retailers that are very 
reputable.  We have been told, and I don’t have term sheets . . . yet, that say 
we should be able to borrow against those receivables because the paper is 
coming to us from those kinds of retailers.  Once that is in place and we can 
borrow against those receivables, then the opportunity for us to get back on 
to this very high-growth trend in China is possible. 

CW1 confirmed this fact, explaining that the Company could not sell/factor these receivables 

due to the conditional terms. 
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 2. Syntax-Brillian’s Accounting for Tooling Deposits Violated GAAP 

87. The reporting of tooling deposits that were paid to Kolin and recorded as assets 

on Syntax-Brillian’s balance sheet violated GAAP, specifically FASB Statement of Concepts 

No. 2, Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information.  Kolin was not only the 

principal contract manufacturer of Syntax-Brillian’s LCD and HDTVs; they were also a 

related party of Syntax-Brillian as defined under GAAP, based on the fact they held more 

than 10% of Syntax-Brillian’s stock and Christopher C. L. Liu, a director of Syntax-Brillian, 

was the President and a member of the Board of Directors of Kolin.  Throughout the Class 

Period, Syntax-Brillian sent over a hundred million dollars in cash to Kolin and recorded the 

payments as “tooling deposits” on its balance sheet.  In fact, when Syntax-Brillian conducted 

their SPO in May of 2007 for around $127 million, most of the proceeds from the offering 

went directly to Kolin in the form of tooling deposits.  At the other end of their relationship 

with Kolin, Syntax-Brillian recorded large non-cash rebates and credits at the end of each 

quarter that allowed Syntax-Brillian to drastically reduce cost of sales and inflate margins 

and earnings.6 

88. Essentially, Kolin used Syntax-Brillian’s stock and debt financings in the 

United States to obtain much needed cash financing, in the form of “tooling deposits,” for 

their operations in Taiwan.  In return, Syntax-Brillian received much needed boosts to its 

margins and earnings at the end of each quarter, in the form of vendor credits from Kolin.  

Evidencing the roundtrip nature of the Kolin relationship, for the six-months ended 

December 31, 2006, “tooling deposits” paid by Syntax-Brillian to Kolin amounted to $42.6 

million while “vendor rebates, price protection, and other credits” issued back to Syntax-

Brillian from Kolin amounted to $43.9 million.  For the three-months ended September 30, 

2007, “tooling deposits” paid by Syntax-Brillian to Kolin amounted to $60.1 million while 

                                              

6  During fiscal year 2007, Syntax-Brillian paid Kolin a total of $471.9 million for 
“contract manufacturing services and electronic components and subassemblies.” 
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“vendor rebates, price protection, and other credits” issued back to Syntax-Brillian from 

Kolin amounted to $38.3 million. 

89. Syntax-Brillian used these credits to beat analyst expectations for margins and 

earnings.  For example, in the quarter ended December 31, 2006, Kolin provided Syntax-

Brillian a total of $31.3 million in “vendor rebates and price protection.”  Without these 

questionable non-cash credits, the total gross profit margin in the quarter would have been 

just $6.5 million on $242.5 million in sales or 2.6%, as opposed to the reported 15.6% in 

gross profit margin. 

90. The substance of the relationship with Kolin, specifically the tooling deposits 

arrangement coupled with the vendor rebates arrangement, amounted to nothing more than a 

roundtrip of payments that served to benefit both parties.  The reporting of these transactions 

by Syntax-Brillian in their publicly issued financial statements violated GAAP, specifically 

FASB Statement of Concepts No. 2, which requires that accounting for a transaction should 

reflect its economic substance, and not simply follow the form. 

91. In addition, SEC Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release (“AAER”) 

No. 2215 (March 21, 2005) states: 

A fundamental tenet of [GAAP] is that the accounting for a transaction should 
reflect its economic substance, and the form of a transaction is not necessarily 
controlling.  For example, revenue should not be recorded in a round-trip 
transaction in which the essence of the transaction is merely a circular flow of 
cash and the customer does not need the goods or services provided, would not 
normally purchase the goods or services at that time, or purchases quantities in 
excess of its needs.  For those charged with preparing financial statements, an 
important and fundamental responsibility is to ensure that companies account 
for transactions based on their economic substance. 

92. According to CW1, in 2007 Syntax-Brillian gave Kolin between $65 to $150 

million for tooling costs (tooling deposit).  In exchange, Kolin would issue a pro-rata 

purchase credit back to Syntax-Brillian as the Company purchased components from Kolin.  

Syntax-Brillian recorded this credit as a reduction of its cost of sales.  The amounts of 

tooling deposit and purchase credits were supposed to follow an “earn out schedule” e.g., 

Syntax-Brillian would commit to buy 10,000 units of 37” LCD flat panel televisions over a 

six-month or one-year period.  According to CW1, all tooling deposit agreements were 
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negotiated directly between Li (COO) and Kolin and CW1 was told about the terms and 

provided with documents from Li. 

93. These tooling deposits were, in fact, round-trip payments that artificially 

inflated the Company’s profit margin.  In fact, according to CW1, at 2007 year-end, Syntax-

Brillian had not purchased or “earned out” a substantial amount of its tooling deposit.  

Accordingly, a significant amount of units remained on the tooling deposit earn out schedule.  

According to CW1, and in accordance with GAAP, if Kolin was not going to refund any 

money, which they clearly were not going to, then Syntax-Brillian should have written-off 

the remaining un-credited amounts left on the earn out schedule instead of writing off the un-

earned sham tooling deposits.  The Company instead created a last minute “extension” with 

Kolin in order to avoid any write-off.  According to CW1, in the final days before closing the 

Company’s books, CW1 was told that Kolin had issued an “extension” on the earn-out 

schedule.  According to CW1, E&Y immediately requested written proof of this extension 

before they would sign off on the Form 10-K.  The first evidence that CW1 saw of an 

extension agreement was an unsigned 8x11 piece of paper typed in Chinese.  CW1 refused to 

accept this document and demanded a signed letter, in English, on formal letterhead.  

Subsequently, Kolin provided an agreement in English, but the Kolin letterhead was merely 

typed in and the author’s name on the letter was typed in without a signature.  According to 

CW1, E&Y ultimately accepted this letter. 

 3. The Truth Is Revealed: Syntax-Brillian Announces Restatement of  
  Revenue Transactions with SCHOT and Tooling Deposits with Kolin 

94. On April 15, 2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that previously issued financial 

statements “should no longer be relied upon as a result of our determination that restatements 

and changes to disclosures within our previously issued financial statements may likely be 

necessary.  Upon our analysis of specified accounting issues, including our tooling deposit 

accounting and sales transactions with certain of our Asian distributors, we have determined 

that further evaluation of these issues may be required to conclude on the impact on the 

previously issued financial statements for the above-referenced periods” 
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95. Syntax-Brillian’s announcement that the Company’s financial statements for 

fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and the interim periods therein should no longer be relied 

upon constitutes an admission that the Company’s financial reporting for such periods was 

false.  Accordingly, to the extent that Syntax-Brillian incorporated by reference the SEC 

filings for such periods into the Offering Documents for the SPO, including the Form 10-

Q/A for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

December 31, 2006, the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007, the Offering 

Documents therefore contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted other facts 

necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and negligently concealed and failed 

adequately to disclose material facts. 

96. Additionally, pursuant to GAAP, as set forth in FASB Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standard No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (“SFAS No. 

154”), Syntax-Brillian’s announcement that its financial statements should no longer be 

relied upon was to correct for material errors in its previously issued financial statements.  

Effective July 1, 2005, Syntax-Brillian adopted SFAS No. 154.  Specifically, SFAS No. 154 

states: “Any error in the financial statements of a prior period discovered subsequent to their 

issuance shall be reported as a prior-period adjustment by restating the prior-period financial 

statements.”  SFAS No. 154, ¶25.  Thus, GAAP provides that financial statements should be 

restated in order to correct errors in previously issued financial statements.  Syntax-Brillian’s 

announcement that its financial statements should no longer be relied upon was due to errors 

in its previously issued financial statements.  Thus, the Company’s announcement was 

admission that its previously issued financial results and its public statements regarding those 

results were false. 

 4. Additional GAAP Violations 

97. In addition to the GAAP violations described above, the accounting 

improprieties outlined in this complaint violated the following fundamental accounting 

principles: 
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(a) The principle that interim financial reporting should be based upon the 

same accounting principles and practices used to prepare annual financial statements was 

violated (Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 28, ¶10); 

(b) The principle that financial reporting should provide information that is 

useful to present and potential investors and creditors and other users in making rational 

investment, credit and similar decisions was violated (FASB Statement of Concepts No. 1 

Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises, ¶34); 

(c) The principle that financial reporting should provide information about 

the economic resources of an enterprise, the claims to those resources, and effects of 

transactions, events and circumstances that change resources and claims to those resources 

was violated (Id., ¶40); 

(d) The principle that financial reporting should provide information about 

how management of an enterprise has discharged its stewardship responsibility to owners 

(stockholders) for the use of enterprise resources entrusted to it was violated.  To the extent 

that management offers securities of the enterprise to the public, it voluntarily accepts wider 

responsibilities for accountability to prospective investors and to the public in general (Id., 

¶50); 

(e) The principle that financial reporting should provide information about 

an enterprise’s financial performance during a period was violated.  Investors and creditors 

often use information about the past to help in assessing the prospects of an enterprise.  Thus, 

although investment and credit decisions reflect investors’ expectations about future 

enterprise performance, those expectations are commonly based at least partly on evaluations 

of past enterprise performance (Id., ¶42); 

(f) The principle that financial reporting should be reliable in that it 

represents what it purports to represent was violated.  That information should be reliable as 

well as relevant is a notion that is central to accounting (FASB Statement of Concepts No. 2, 

¶¶58-59); 
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(g) The principle of completeness, which means that nothing is left out of 

the information that may be necessary to insure that it validly represents underlying events 

and conditions was violated (Id., ¶79); and 

(h) The principle that conservatism be used as a prudent reaction to 

uncertainty to try to ensure that uncertainties and risks inherent in business situations are 

adequately considered was violated.  The best way to avoid injury to investors is to try to 

ensure that what is reported represents what it purports to represent (Id., ¶¶95, 97). 

98. Further, the undisclosed adverse information concealed by defendants during 

the Class Period is the type of information which, because of SEC regulations, regulations of 

the national stock exchanges and customary business practice, is expected by investors and 

securities analysts to be disclosed and is known by corporate officials and their legal and 

financial advisors to be the type of information which is expected to be and must be 

disclosed. 

99. The statements contained within and incorporated into the Offering Documents 

were also materially false and misleading, or omitted to state other facts necessary to make 

the statements made not misleading, because: (i) the Company’s reported revenue, net 

income and LCD units sold were artificially inflated; (ii) there was insufficient end-user 

demand in China to warrant the quantity of LCD televisions shipped to SCHOT; (iii) the 

Company’s financial statements did not fairly present, in all material respects, the financial 

condition and results of operations of the Company; (iv) the Company’s negative working 

capital and cash flow was caused by SCHOT’s failure to pay for televisions that it received 

but was unable to sell; and (v) the Company’s cash from operations and credit facilities were 

not sufficient to sustain operations. 

100. Defendants are liable under this claim because the Offering Documents were 

inaccurate and misleading, contained and incorporated by reference untrue statements of 

material facts, omitted material facts required to be stated or necessary to make the 

statements not misleading, and negligently concealed and failed to adequately disclose 

material facts as described above. 
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101. Syntax-Brillian is the registrant for the SPO and issuer of the stock sold 

through the Offering Documents.  As issuer of the stock, the Company is strictly liable to 

named plaintiff and the Class for the material misstatements and omissions. 

102. Sollitto, Pratt, Li, Chow and Hodgson, as signatories to the Offering 

Documents, as directors, and/or officers and controlling persons of the issuer, owed to the 

holders of the stock obtained through the Offering Documents the duty to make a reasonable 

and diligent investigation of the statements contained in the Offering Documents at the time 

they become effective to ensure that such statements were true and correct and that there was 

no omission of material facts required to be stated in order to make the statements contained 

therein not misleading.  Defendants failed to exercise reasonable care in connection with 

issuing the Offering Documents for the SPO.  As such, defendants are liable to the Class. 

H. False Consent by Auditors 

103. Grobstein issued unqualified opinions on Syntax-Brillian’s fiscal year 2004, 

2005 and 2006 Form 10-Ks, which were incorporated, with Grobstein’s consent, into the 

Registration Statement.  Grobstein also consented to be named as an expert in the 

Registration Statement.  Syntax-Brillian stated in the Offering Documents: 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectus 
constituting a part of this Registration Statement on Form S-3 of Syntax-
Brillian Corporation of our report dated September 8, 2006 with respect to the 
consolidated balance sheet of Syntax-Brillian Corporation and subsidiaries as 
of June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005, the related consolidated statements of 
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended June 30, 2006 which report appears in the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended June 30, 2006. 

We also consent to the reference to our firm under the caption 
“Experts” in the prospectus that is part of the Registration Statement. 

/s/ Grobstein, Horwath & Company LLP 

Sherman Oaks, California 

April 6, 2007 

104. Based upon the improper and premature recognition of revenue and improper 

accounting for tooling deposits, as identified above (¶¶72-97), Grobstein’s consent was false 
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and misleading because Syntax-Brillian’s reported revenues, net income, and LCD units sold 

were artificially inflated. 

105. The independent auditor is a gatekeeper to the capital markets.  A company 

that sells new securities to the public is required to file a registration statement with the SEC, 

and the Securities Act requires that the registration statement contain financial statements 

audited by an independent auditor.  Section 11 of the Securities Act imposes significant 

responsibilities on every auditor who has with his or her consent been named as having 

certified any part of the registration statement.  Because of the significance of these 

responsibilities and their difference from the auditor’s responsibilities in ordinary 

circumstances, professional standards contain a separate discussion of these additional 

responsibilities in AU 711, Filings Under Federal Securities Statutes. 

106. When an independent auditor’s report is included in a registration statement, 

the nature and extent of this responsibility are specified in some detail in the federal 

securities statutes and in the related rules and regulations.  AU 711.02 states that §11(a) 

imposes responsibility for false or misleading statements in an effective registration 

statement, or for omissions that render statements made in such a document misleading on 

every auditor who consents to be named as having certified any part of the registration 

statement, or as having prepared any report used in connection with the registration 

statement, with respect to the statement or reporting in the registration statement that 

purports to have been prepared or certified by him. 

107. AU 711.03 explains that §11(b) states, in part, that no person whose report is 

included in the registration statement on his authority as an expert shall be liable as provided 

therein if that person sustains the burden of proof that, as regards the part of the registration 

statement purporting to be made on his authority as an expert, or purporting to be a copy 

from a report of himself as an expert, “he had after reasonable investigation, reasonable 

ground to believe and did believe, at the time such part of the registration statement became 

effective, that the statements therein were true and that there was no omission to state a 
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material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not 

misleading.” 

108. AU 711.03 also states as follows: 

Section 11 further provides that in determining what constitutes reasonable 
investigation and reasonable ground to believe, “the standard of 
reasonableness shall be that required of a prudent man in the management of 
his own property.” 

Thus, this reasonableness requirement goes beyond the requirement of due professional care 

imposed by the auditing standards. 

109. One of the unique responsibilities related to the auditor’s consent to the 

inclusion of an audit report in a registration statement is that the decision to consent should 

be made in light of the circumstances at the effective date.  AU 711.05 states as follows: 

Because a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 speaks as of 
its effective date, the independent accountant whose report is included in such 
a registration statement has a statutory responsibility that is determined in light 
of the circumstances on that date.  This aspect of responsibility is peculiar to 
reports used for this purpose (see paragraphs .10 through .12). 

110. This means that the auditor should view the continuing validity of the opinion 

expressed at an earlier date from the perspective of the circumstances known at the effective 

date. 

111. AU 711.10 describes the auditor’s responsibility to keep informed of relevant 

circumstances through the effective date as follows: 

To sustain the burden of proof that he has made a “reasonable investigation” 
(see paragraph .03) as required under the Securities Act of 1933, an auditor 
should extend his procedures with respect to subsequent events from the date 
of his audit report up to the effective date or as close thereto as is reasonable 
and practical in the circumstances. 

112. AU 711.10 describes the procedures that should be applied as including the 

normal subsequent events review procedures as described in AU 560, Subsequent Events, 

plus reading the entire prospectus and other pertinent portions of the registration statement 

and inquiring of and obtaining written representations from management responsible for 

financial and accounting matters.  Naturally, the auditor is also responsible for any 
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knowledge he or she has obtained in providing professional services to the company since 

the audit through the effective date. 

113. AU 711.12 describes the auditor’s responsibilities if the auditor discovers or 

becomes aware of information that affects the audited financial statements included in the 

registration statement or the audit report thereon as follows: 

If subsequent to the date of his report on audited financial statements the 
auditor . . . (a) discovers, in performing the procedures described in paragraphs 
.10 and .11 above, subsequent events that require adjustment or disclosure in 
the financial statements, or (b) becomes aware that facts may have existed at 
the date of his report that might have affected his report had he then been 
aware of those facts, he should follow the guidance in sections 560 and 561. 

AU 560 and 561 relate to seeing that the proper adjustments or disclosures are made or 

withdrawing a previously issued audit report. 

114. AU 711.13 imposes a similar responsibility for any unaudited financial 

statements or unaudited interim financial information presented or incorporated by reference 

in a registration statement that are not in conformity with GAAP. 

115. Under both AU 711.12 and .13 if the financial statements or financial 

information is not appropriately revised, the auditor should modify his or her audit report for 

the GAAP departure and consider withholding the consent to the use of his or her report on 

the audited financial statements in the registration statement. 

116. Grobstein consented on April 6, 2007 to the inclusion of its audit report in the 

Registration Statement filed May 24, 2007.  The Registration Statement also included 

Syntax-Brillian’s unaudited interim financial information for the nine-months ended March 

31, 2006 and 2007, and as of March 31, 2007 has been derived from Syntax-Brillian’s 

unaudited financial statements. 

117. Grobstein should not have consented to the inclusion of its audit report in 

Syntax-Brillian’s Registration Statement because of the Company’s premature revenue 

transactions, including SCHOT and improper accounting for tooling deposits. 
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118. Grobstein should have evaluated whether to reissue its audit report on Syntax-

Brillian’s fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 financial statements in light of the circumstances 

that existed on May 24, 2007.  

119. If Grobstein had adequately considered these matters, Grobstein would not 

have consented to the inclusion of its audit report on the fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 

financial statements in the Registration Statement. 

120. Thus, Grobstein violated professional standards by consenting to the inclusion 

of its audit reports for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2004, 2005, and 2006 in the 

Registration Statement on May 24, 2007.  By including its consent in the Registration 

Statement, Grobstein was required to make a “reasonable investigation” with respect to 

events at Syntax-Brillian subsequent to the date of the audit report up to the date of the 

Registration Statement.  AU 711.10.  Grobstein was responsible for any knowledge it 

obtained in providing professional services through the date of the Registration Statement, in 

addition to reading the entire Prospectus and other pertinent portions of the Registration 

Statement. 

I. Defendants’ Failure to Conduct a Reasonable Investigation 

121. None of the defendants made a reasonable investigation or possessed 

reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Offering Documents 

were true or that there was no omission of material facts necessary to make the statements 

made therein not misleading. 

122. Defendants issued and disseminated, caused to be issued and disseminated, and 

participated in the issuance and dissemination of, materially false and misleading statements 

to the investing public that were contained or incorporated by reference in the Offering 

Documents, which negligently misrepresented or failed to disclose, inter alia, the facts set 

forth above.  By reason of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant violated and/or 

controlled a person who violated §11 of the Securities Act. 

123. At the time they obtained their shares of Syntax-Brillian, named plaintiff and 

members of the Class acquired Syntax-Brillian shares pursuant to, or traceable to, and in 
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reliance on, the Offering Documents, without knowledge of the facts concerning the 

misstatements or omissions alleged herein and could not have reasonably discovered those 

facts. 

124. Named plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages.  The value of Syntax-

Brillian shares declined when the truth began to emerge concerning the Company’s adverse 

financial and business condition concealed by defendants’ negligent misrepresentations, 

misstatements and omissions in, and incorporated by, the Offering Documents. 

COUNT II 

Against All Defendants for Violations of §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act  

125. Named plaintiff and the Class repeat and reiterate each and every allegation 

contained in the preceding paragraphs above, as if fully set forth herein. 

126. This Count is brought by named plaintiff and the Class pursuant to §12(a)(2) of 

the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77l(a)(2), on behalf of all purchasers of Syntax-Brillian shares 

in connection with, and traceable to, the SPO.  This Count does not contain any allegations 

sounding in fraud.  Moreover, for purposes of this Count, the named plaintiff and the Class 

affirmatively state that they do not claim that defendants committed intentional or reckless 

misconduct or that defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent. 

127. Defendants were sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of purchasers of the 

shares offered pursuant to the Offering Documents. 

128. The Offering Documents contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted 

to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and concealed and 

failed to disclose material facts.  Defendants’ actions of solicitation included participating in, 

and signing, the preparation of the false and misleading Offering Documents. 

129. Defendants owed to the purchasers of Syntax-Brillian shares, including the 

named plaintiff and other Class member purchasers of Syntax-Brillian shares, the duty to 

make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the statements contained in the Offering 

Documents, including the Prospectus contained therein, to ensure that such statements were 

true and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be stated in order to 
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make the statements contained therein not misleading.  Defendants knew of, or in the 

exercise of reasonable care should have known of, the misstatements and omissions 

contained in the Offering Documents as set forth above. 

130. Named plaintiff and the other members of the Class purchased or otherwise 

acquired Syntax-Brillian shares pursuant to and traceable to the defective Offering 

Documents.  Named plaintiff did not know, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence could 

not have known, of the untruths and omissions contained in the Offering Documents. 

131. Named plaintiff, individually and representatively, hereby offers to tender to 

defendants those securities which the named plaintiff and other Class members continue to 

own, on behalf of all members of the Class who continue to own such securities, in return for 

the consideration paid for those securities together with interest thereon.  Class members 

who have sold their Syntax-Brillian shares are entitled to recissory damages. 

132. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, these defendants violated, and/or 

controlled a person who violated, §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  Accordingly, the named 

plaintiff and members of the Class who hold Syntax-Brillian shares purchased in the SPO 

have the right to rescind and recover the consideration paid for their Syntax-Brillian shares 

and, hereby elect to rescind and tender their Syntax-Brillian shares to the defendants sued 

herein.  The named plaintiff and Class members who have sold their Syntax-Brillian shares 

are entitled to recissory damages. 

COUNT III 

Against Defendants Sollitto, Li, Pratt, Chow and Hodgson for 
Violations of §15 of the Securities Act 

133. Named plaintiff and the Class repeat and reallege each and every allegation 

contained in the preceding paragraphs above, as if fully set forth herein. 

134. This Count is asserted against Sollitto, Li, Pratt, Chow and Hodgson and is 

based upon §15 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77o.  This Count does not contain any 

allegations sounding in fraud.  Moreover, for purposes of this Count, named plaintiff and the 
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Class affirmatively state that they do not claim that defendants committed intentional or 

reckless misconduct or that defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent. 

135. Sollitto, Li, Pratt, Chow and Hodgson each were control persons of Syntax-

Brillian by virtue of his/her position as director and/or senior officer of Syntax-Brillian.  

These defendants each had a series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal 

relationships with other directors and/or major shareholders of Syntax-Brillian. 

136. Sollitto, Li, Pratt, Chow and Hodgson each were culpable participants in the 

violations of §§11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act alleged in Counts I and II above, based 

on their having signed the Offering Documents and having otherwise participated in the 

process which allowed the SPO to be successfully completed. 

COUNT IV 

Against the Individual Defendants for Violations of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and 
SEC Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder 

A. Plaintiff 

137. Lead Plaintiff the City of St. Clair Shores Police & Fire Retirement System 

purchased Syntax-Brillian’s common stock at artificially inflated prices during the Class 

Period.  The price of Syntax-Brillian’s stock declined significantly when the truth began to 

be publicly revealed about the Company’s adverse business and financial condition that had 

been concealed by the Individual Defendants’ earlier misrepresentations, omissions and 

other fraudulent conduct, and Lead Plaintiff was damaged as a result.  Lead Plaintiff’s 

certification has been previously submitted in this litigation and is hereby incorporated by 

reference.  Lead Plaintiff and the Class repeat and reallege the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

B. Substantive Allegations Based Upon Witnesses, Documents and the 
 Individual Defendants’ Admissions 

138. CW1 was the Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer for Syntax-

Brillian from August 2006 through October 2007. 

139. CW2 was the Vice President of Sales for Syntax-Brillian for the LCoS 

Division in Boulder, Colorado from 2005 through October 2007.  CW2 reported to Sollitto 
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while still at Brillian and to Li once Syntax and Brillian merged.  CW2 was the sole 

salesperson for Syntax-Brillian’s LCoS, garnering sales of $3 to $4 million per year.  CW2 

also sold LCD televisions to distributors in the United States and South America. 

140. CW3 was the Internal Auditor for Syntax-Brillian in City of Industry, 

California from October 2007 through April 2008.  CW3 was one of only two full-time 

employees in the Company’s Internal Audit Department.  CW3 audited the Company’s 

books and focused on developing written policy and procedures. 

C. Defendants’ Pre-Class Period Statements that Remained in Effect at the Start 
 of the Class Period 

141. On February 8, 2007, Syntax-Brillian issued a press release entitled “Syntax-

Brillian Reports Record Second Quarter Results.”  For the quarter, Syntax-Brillian reported 

“record” revenue of $242.5 million, up 303% from the year-ago quarter.  Net income for the 

quarter was $14.8 million compared with a net loss of $1.3 million for the second fiscal 

quarter of 2006.  In announcing these results, Sollitto stated that “I am extremely pleased 

with the performance of our team this quarter . . . .  Revenue and earnings hit new records as 

sell-through of the Olevia brand at the retail level continues to exceed our expectations and 

we expand distribution into new national channels.” 

142. For the quarter ended December 31, 2006 (“2Q07”), the Company reported 

account receivables of $123.5 million from SCHOT, with DSO at 89.3 days.  In the prior 

quarter ended September 30, 2006, account receivables from SCHOT were $53.4 million.  

The account receivables owed to the Company from SCHOT increased by $70.1 million, or 

more than 130%, from the prior fiscal quarter.  The increase in the 2Q07 account receivables 

due from SCHOT also represented approximately 29% of the Company’s total revenue 

reported for the quarter. 

143. The February 8, 2007 press release was followed by a February 8, 2007 

conference call (“2Q07 Conference Call”).  During the conference call with analysts 

immediately after issuing the Company’s 2Q07 results, Pratt stated that “we are very pleased 

with the quarterly results.”  Pratt also raised the Company’s guidance for fiscal year 2007 
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ending June 30, 2007, stating that revenue was expected to be in the range of $650 to $700 

million and that the Company planned to ship volumes of between 975,000 to 1,025,000 

units.  Pratt attributed the Company’s increase in guidance to the higher revenue reported in 

the December quarter as well as an increased outlook for the quarters ending in March and 

June. 

144. During the 2Q07 Conference Call, Sollitto also touted the Company’s 

“outstanding” 2Q07 result and assured investors that the Company’s “future is very bright as 

we move forward.”  On the issue of its account receivables to SCHOT, Sollitto assured 

investors that demand in China was strong and that “[t]he channel is so desperate to get 

Olevia product that they are paying early to ensure if they can maintain supply.” 

D. Defendants Issued Materially False and Misleading Statements During the 
 Class Period 

145. On February 14, 2007, the Company filed its Form 10-Q with the SEC for 

2Q07, which was signed by Sollitto and Pratt and repeated the Company’s previously 

announced financial results for 2Q07.  The 10-Q stated that “[t]he accompanying unaudited 

condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial 

information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. . . .  In our 

opinion, all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to 

present fairly the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for all periods 

presented have been made.” 

146. In the 2Q07 Form 10-Q, the Company also indicated that for the first six-

months of fiscal year 2007 ended December 31, 2006, the Company’s cash flow from 

operations was a negative $46.5 million.  The Company stated that “[t]he operating cash 

outflow during the six months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily the result of 

increases in account receivables and inventories . . . .”  The Company assured investors, 

however, that “[w]e believe that the cash from operations and the increased credit facilities 

will be sufficient to sustain operations at the current level for the next 12 months.”  The 
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Company reported $83.8 million owed and outstanding under its various credit facilities as 

of December 31, 2006. 

147. The Company’s 2Q07 Form l0-Q also contained certifications signed by 

Sollitto and Pratt that stated, in part, that “[t]he information contained in the Report fairly 

presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company.” 

148. On March 28, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced that it sold approximately 2.1 

million shares of common stock at $7.32 per share and warrants to purchase 211,817 shares 

of common stock at an exercise price of $8.78 per share, for proceeds of approximately 

$15.5 million.  The purchasers of the Company’s common stock and warrants were affiliated 

with two of the Company’s suppliers, WesTech Electronics Ltd. and TCV Group. 

149. On May 2, 2007, after the close of the market, the Company issued a press 

release entitled “Syntax-Brillian Secures Bridge Loan Financing Totaling $20 Million.” 

150. Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation, a manufacturer and marketer of LCD and 
LCoS(TM) HDTVs and digital entertainment products, announced that it has 
entered into a term loan agreement for a $20 million term note with CIT 
Commercial Services, a unit of CIT Group Inc., which is a leading global 
provider of commercial and consumer finance solutions.  The note is due on 
the earlier of September 30, 2007 or Syntax-Brillian’s receipt of other 
financing.  This bridge loan has been provided by CIT in anticipation of 
their participating in a $150 million revolving credit facility to Syntax-
Brillian which will be subject to various conditions, including successful 
completion of due diligence and negotiation of final terms. 

According to Vincent F. Sollitto, Jr., chairman and chief executive 
officer of Syntax-Brillian, the additional credit provides useful working capital 
to fund general corporate programs and better enables the company to meet 
recent and growing demand for its Olevia-brand LCD & LCoS(TM) 
televisions in markets globally. 

151. On this news, the Company’s shares increased $0.69 per share, or over 9.2%, 

to close on May 3, 2007 at $8.16 per share. 

152. On May 10, 2007, the Company issued a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian 

Corporation Reports Third Quarter Financial Results.”  Therein, the Company, in relevant 

part, stated: 
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Syntax-Brillian Corporation, a leading designer, developer, and distributor of 
LCD and LCoS(TM) HDTVs and digital imaging products, today announced 
financial results for its fiscal 2007 third quarter ended March 31, 2007. 

For the quarter ended March 31, 2007, Syntax-Brillian reported revenue 
of $162.9 million, up 257% from revenue of $45.7 million in the year-ago 
quarter.  Year-to-date revenue was $492.4 million, up 270% from revenue of 
$133.2 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006. 

* * * 

“This has been a very exciting quarter for Syntax-Brillian,” said 
Vincent F. Sollitto, Jr., Chairman and CEO of Syntax-Brillian.  “Given the 
challenge of achieving year-to-date revenue growth of 270%, integrating the 
Vivitar acquisition, and expanding our LCoS program in China, I am 
extremely pleased with the results this quarter.  The success o four 
advertising campaigns has resulted in increased demand for our Olevia 
HDTVs and, therefore, our revenue outlook for the full calendar year has 
now been increased to a range of $975 million to $1.1 billion,” Mr. Sollitto 
continued. 

* * * 

Business Outlook 

Syntax-Brillian also provided the following business outlook for its quarter 
and full fiscal year ending June 30, 2007 and the calendar year ending 
December 31, 2007. 

For the quarter ending June 30, 2007, Syntax-Brillian anticipates 
revenue in the range of $190 million to $210 million, predominately from 
sales of LCD TVs on shipments of approximately 240,000 to 270,000 units.  
Gross margins for the quarter are anticipated to be in the range of 15% to 17%. 

For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007, Syntax-Brillian anticipates 
revenue in the range of $682 million to $702 million, predominately from 
sales of LCD TVs on shipments of approximately 970,000 to 1.0 million units.  
Gross margins for the full fiscal year are anticipated to be in the range of 16% 
to 18%. 

For the calendar year ending December 31, 2007, Syntax-Brillian 
anticipates revenue in the range of $950 million to $1.1 billion, and gross 
margins in the range of 16% to 18%. 

153. In another press release issued on May 10, 2007, the Company announced that 

it “plans to offer approximately $150 million and certain of its stockholders plan to offer 

approximately $22 million of shares of Syntax-Brillian common stock in an underwritten 

public offering.” 
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154. The May 10, 2007 press release was followed by a May 10, 2007 investor 

conference call (the “3Q07 Conference Call”) for analysts, investors and media 

representatives.  During this call, Pratt and Sollitto, in relevant part, stated: 

[WAYNE PRATT:] At March 31, accounts receivable and due from factors 
totaled $221 million or total DSOs of 122.1 days.  This compares with 73.9 
days at March 31, 2006, and 78.6 days at December 31, 2006.  Included in 
accounts receivable on March 31, 2007 was $170.8 million of accounts 
receivable from South China House of Technology, or SCHOT, our distributor 
in Asia.  The large accounts receivable balance is reflective of the strong 
seasonal sales to support retailers’ demand for the Chinese New Year sales 
push. 

Of the amount outstanding from SCHOT at March 31, 2007, $47.2 
million was beyond the 120-day terms granted on these sales.  Subsequent to 
quarter end we have collected $37.7 million from SCHOT, but more invoices 
have become past due.  As of May 9, approximately $69 million of invoices 
from SCHOT are past due, and our total outstanding receivable balance 
from SCHOT was down to $133.2 million.  The delay in collections from 
SCHOT is driven by seasonal payment delays from SCHOT’s China 
retailers. 

In the past two weeks the rate of payments has increased 
significantly, such that we anticipate that by June 30, 2007, SCHOT will be 
back into compliance with the 120-day terms of we grant to them.  Accounts 
receivable and due from factor, excluding the Asian receivables, totaled 
$98.7 million or 45.7 days at March 31, 2007 compared with 73.9 days at 
March 31, 2006 and 66.8 days at December 31, 2006. 

* * * 

For the calendar year ending December 31, 2007, we anticipate 
consolidated revenue to be in the range of $950 million to 1.1 billion with 
consolidated gross margins in the range of 16% to 18%. 

* * * 

[VINCENT F. SOLLITTO, JR.:] Thanks.  As I mentioned on our last call, the 
third quarter was not going to be limited by demand or capacity but by our 
ability to finance the purchase of panels and TVs, given incredible volume in 
the second quarter.  This was further challenged by the sharp increase in 
demand by our channels for the Olevia brand and, caused by excellent reviews 
and ratings from the consumer and professional groups as well as the 
continued brand recognition from our ESPN campaign. 

If you have to have challenges, increasing demand is the problem set 
you would ask for every time.  In order to deal with these challenges, we also 
announced today that we intend to do $150 million underwritten public 
offering. 

* * * 
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While April was a difficult month for our channel partners with 
widespread allocation constraints, the bridge loan from CIT and the steady 
inflow of our payments from our China and domestic sales has allowed us to 
update our outlook for June quarter.  By the way, if you happen into Sears or 
Kmart this month, you will be pleased to see several of the new models for 
sale. 

While we have had to delay initiating availability of the Olevia brand at 
a few new channel partners, I believe we will be able to satisfy upside demand 
across most of the global channel beginning in July. 

* * * 

[ANALYST:] If you look at your full-year revenue guidance of $975 
million to $1.1 billion, can you talk a little bit about what are your 
assumptions there, in terms of ramping additional retailers?  Are you assuming 
a ramp of another big box retailer in those numbers? 

[VINCENT F. SOLLITTO, JR.:] The outlook that we have – I think we are 
being very conservative here, and we should – is based on our current 
forecast from our current channel partners.  We do believe that there is 
significant upside, which is obviously why we’re looking to finance at a 
faster rate than just receivables growth. 

[ANALYST:] So you are thinking this is achievable through organic 
growth, currently? 

[VINCENT F. SOLLITTO, JR.:] Yes. 

* * * 

[ANALYST:] [w]ould your contracts relative to your panel suppliers 
cover the, your – essentially, your guidance that you’ve given for the year?  Or 
would you actually – you would not have to go out on the spot market 
(multiple speakers)? 

[VINCENT F. SOLLITTO, JR.:] In fact, we have been approached by the 
panel manufacturers to offer increases on our contracts. 

* * * 

[ANALYST:] You guys reported that Kolin has done something to the 
order of about 11.9% of your gross margin through arrangements with the 
suppliers.  In the environment where panels go up, do we see those sorts of 
rebates come through?  And what about the other kind of market development 
funds?  Are those affected at all by changes in the panel market? 

[VINCENT F. SOLLITTO, JR.:] Let me try and take you through this.  The 
panel is the lion’s share of the cost.  It’s about 70% of the bill of materials.  
But the other 30% is very important, and we work on that and we get price 
protection and we get volume credits of discounts there and market 
development funds as well. 

Typically, your video processor chip guys will give you marketing 
development funds of 2-3%.  So the dynamic is that during the quarter we 
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authorized Kolin; and soon we will be authorizing Solar Link because they 
will also be operating in that way, to go to our suppliers and purchase the – 
against our contracts, and these are contracts that James Lee actually measures 
and monitors on a monthly basis. 

* * * 

[ANALYST:] Just so I understand the dynamic here, the contracts you 
have with your panel suppliers are not necessarily at a fixed affect price, but 
for a certain amount of volume over the year.  And just as a follow-up to the 
previous question, if panel prices were, God forbid, to go up, is there a true-up 
on the contract where you might actually have to kick back additional money 
to Kolin? 

[VINCENT F. SOLLITTO, JR.:] We never see the – well, I shouldn’t say 
never.  Never say never.  We haven’t ever seen a case where our prices went 
up on our contract side.  What happens is we have a commitment to a 
certain pricing, and that pricing has measurements against industry pricing.  
Each quarter, that is reviewed to ensure that we are paying below that 
industry pricing. 

When they talk about panel prices going up, remember what they’re 
really doing is they are increasing panel prices on the spot market, which 
represents about 5% of the total supply, in an effort to try to hold prices on 
panels in general. 

155. During the 3Q07 Conference Call, in response to a question concerning the 

Company’s DSO of 122 days, Sollitto also sought to assure investors that the Company’s 

difficulties in receiving payments from SCHOT were largely in the past.  He stated that “we 

were already at the back end of the issue [ ] [b]ecause we’re starting to receive now, 

payments, substantial payments every day from those China receivables.”  Later in the 

conference call, he told investors that sales to China is growing at “75% year over year,” and 

that the Company’s prospects in China represent a business opportunity that’s at least “two 

to three times larger than it was last year.”  Additionally, in response to a question from 

Brian Alger, an analyst with Stratos Capital, who asked about maintaining gross margins 

should panel prices rise, Sollitto responded that, “these are contracts that James Li actually 

measures and monitors on a monthly basis.” 

156. On May 11, 2007, Syntax-Brillian filed its report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended March 31, 2007 (“3Q07”), which was signed and certified by Sollitto and Pratt.  For 

3Q07, the Company reported account receivables of $170.8 million from SCHOT.  The 

account receivables owed to the Company from SCHOT increased by $47.3 million from the 
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prior fiscal quarter.  In 3Q07, sales to SCHOT accounted for 39% of the Company’s total 

revenue. 

157. In the 3Q07 Form 10-Q, the Company also indicated that for the nine-months 

of fiscal year 2007 ended March 31, 2007, the Company’s cash flow from operations was a 

negative $58.3 million.  The Company stated that “[t]he operating cash outflow in the nine 

months ended March 31, 2007 was primarily a result of increases in account receivables and 

inventories . . . .”  The Company further stated that “[t]he large increase in account 

receivables in the nine months ended March 31, 2007 was primarily a result of the significant 

increase in net sales to our Asian distributor during the quarters ended December 31, 2006 

and March 31, 2007.” 

158. In the 3Q07 Form 10-Q, the Company reported $73.9 million owed and 

outstanding under its various credit facilities as of March 31, 2007, and the Company “did 

not have any unused availability under our credit facilities” as of that date. 

159. On or about May 24, 2007, the Company filed a Prospectus Supplement with 

the SEC in connection with its 25.6 million share SPO.  In the Prospectus Supplement, the 

Company highlighted the growing importance of sales to SCHOT to the Company’s reported 

growth in revenues and profitability during the Class Period.  The Prospectus Supplement 

stated that “[n]et sales in Asia [SCHOT] totaled $249.5 million, or 50.7% of total net sales, 

for the first three quarters of fiscal 2007 compared with $12.9 million, or 9.7% of total net 

sales, for the first three quarters of fiscal 2006.”  The Prospectus Supplement also 

incorporated by reference the Company’s Form 10-Qs for 2Q07 and 3Q07. 

160. As part of the SPO, Chow took advantage of his knowledge and material non-

public information to sell 1,399,999 shares at $5.75 per share, for proceeds of $8,049,994. 

161. On May 30, 2007, the Company issued a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian 

Announces Exercise in Full of Overallotment Option and Closing of Common Stock 

Offering.”  Therein the Company stated, in relevant party: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation today announced the closing of its previously 
announced public offering of 29,449,999 shares of its common stock 
(including 3,841,304 shares sold pursuant to the exercise in full by the 
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underwriters of their overallotment option) at a public offering price of $5.75 
per share.  Gross proceeds (after deducting the underwriting discount but 
before expenses) were approximately $143.3 million to Syntax-Brillian and 
approximately $16.3 million to the selling stockholders in the offering.  
Syntax-Brillian used approximately $20.2 million of the proceeds from the 
offering to repay outstanding indebtedness (including accrued interest and 
related costs) and expects to use the remaining proceeds from the offering to 
financial the working capital needs associated with continued expansion of its 
business and for other general corporate purposes. 

162. On July 16, 2007, the Company issued a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian 

Corporation Provides Quarter-end Outlook and Updates Calendar-Year Revenue Guidance.”  

Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation, one of the fastest-growing manufacturers of 
HDTVs, today provided updated information with respect to its results for the 
quarter ended June 30, 2007 and updated revenue guidance for the calendar 
year ending December 31, 2007. 

“In our quarterly earnings release on May 10, 2007, we provided 
revenue guidance for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 of $190 million to 
$210 million on unit volumes of 240,000 to 270,000 units,” said Wayne 
Pratt, Syntax-Brillian’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer.  “While the results of the quarter have not yet been finalized, we 
believe that revenue for the quarter will be within that range.  Additionally, 
we believe that gross margins will be within or above the top half of the 
range of 15% to 17% that we had previously forecasted. 

“Moreover,” said Pratt, “during the quarter ended June 30, 2007, we 
collected $129.6 million of cash from South China House of Technology, our 
Asian distributor, and as of June 30, 2007 there were, as expected, no invoices 
outstanding for more than the stated 120-day terms.  Finally, we continue to 
experience strong demand for our products and have had success 
penetrating additional retail accounts during the first half of 2007.  As a 
result of this strong demand and the deployment of the proceeds of our 
public stock offering in May as well as the cash from the accounts receivable 
collections, we are raising our revenue outlook for the calendar year ending 
December 31, 2007 from our previous range of $950 million to $1.1 billion 
to a revised range of $1.1 billion to $1.3 billion.” 

Syntax-Brillian expects to report its financial results for the quarter and 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 no later than the second week of September. 

163. On this news, the Company’s shares increased $1.05 per share, or over 18.8%, 

to close on July 16, 2007 at $6.61 per share, on unusually heavy trading volume. 

164. On August 23, 2007, the Company announced that it raised approximately $20 

million through the sale of approximately 3.1 million shares at $6.485 per share to TECO 

Electric & Machinery Co. (“TECO”), which is a supplier to the Company and based in 



 

- 60 - 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Taiwan.  As part of this stock transaction, Syntax-Brillian, TECO and Kolin, a major 

supplier to, and shareholder of the Company, entered into a three-way alliance wherein Kolin 

would oversee the supply-chain management and product development platform of various 

TECO branded products for distribution in Taiwan as well as other regions of the world that 

all three companies agreed to enter.  TECO would also provide supply-chain financing of up 

to $100 million for the purchase of key components in support of Olevia branded LCD 

televisions. 

165. On September 11, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced the Company would delay 

the release of its fourth quarter 2007 results for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (“4Q07”), 

and year-end earnings for fiscal year 2007. 

E. The Truth Begins to Emerge 

166. On September 12, 2007, in addition to announcing its results for the year end 

and fiscal 4Q07, the Company issued a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian Announces 

Departure of Chief Financial Officer.”  Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation, a manufacturer and marketer of LCD and 
LCoS(TM) HDTVs and digital entertainment products, announced that Wayne 
Pratt, its chief financial officer, will resign effective September 30, 2007 to 
take a position working with a longstanding colleague at a start-up company 
located in Tempe, Ariz. 

“We are extremely sorry to learn of Wayne’s decision to leave the 
company to pursue an opportunity with a privately held company,” said 
Vincent Sollitto, chairman and chief executive officer of Syntax-Brillian.  “He 
has been a great addition to Syntax-Brillian since the formation of the 
company in late 2005, and we certainly wish him the very best in his new 
endeavor.  With Wayne’s assistance, Jack Hodgson, our audit committee 
chairman, and I have begun the search for a replacement.” 

167. For 4Q07, account receivables from SCHOT was $138.1 million, with none of 

the receivables past due 120-days.  The Company also had $78.1 million outstanding under 

its credit line as of June 30, 2007 which, according to a statement made by Pratt in the 

follow-up conference call, was “virtually all of [Syntax-Brillian’s] borrowing base capacity.” 

168. For 1Q08 ending September 30, 2007, the Company projected revenue of $170 

to $180 million, which was significantly below the Company’s prior projection of revenues 

of $254 million.  The Company also projected revenues for calendar year 2007 of $1.0 to 
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$1.1 billion, which was also significantly below the Company’s previous guidance given just 

two months earlier.  For 1Q08, the Company also projected shipments of LCD televisions of 

between 270,000 and 290,000 units.  On September 13, 2008, Syntax-Brillian’s common 

stock declined more than 34.5% to $4.01 on volume of more than 36 million shares. 

169. Syntax-Brillian also announced that the current business outlook “reflects 

Syntax-Brillian’s decision to take a more cautious approach to sales in Asia.”  The Company 

also blamed a tighter credit environment in Asia for the revenue shortfall.  During the 

September 12, 2007 conference call with analysts (“4Q07 Conference Call”), Sollitto stated 

that the Company was scaling back on shipments to China: 

[SOLLITTO:] The Olevia brand continues to enjoy demand beyond 
our plan and as a result, we’re working hard to allocate product to our best 
channel partners and evaluate growth financing alternatives. . . .  [A]s we sit 
here today, we find our growth limited by our current level of working capital. 
. . .  We anticipate continuing to take share in North America with growth over 
three times the national average, as we entered some of the premier national 
big box retailers.  We will, however, scale back our growth for now in China 
and focus our limited working capital on North American sales. 

* * * 

[MERRILL ANALYST STEVEN FOX:] But how realistic is the sales level 
given what you talked about in terms of financing constraints?  Are you 
anticipating that some of those constraints are gone in the December quarter, 
or that you’re going to be able to have – I’m just not following. 

[PRATT:] . . . The real issue is how quickly can we get the financing in 
place or what are our financing capabilities in our supply chain to get the 
panels.  And that’s what is restricting us right now.  So it’s not an issue of can 
we finance it after the sale happens.  This is predicated upon with our current 
financing and our supply chain partners’ current financing, how much product 
can we actually get here. 

* * * 

[BAIRD ANALYST SCOTT ROMAN:] I was wondering if you could give us 
a little more visibility into the end demand outlook in the U.S., especially at 
these big box retailers.  Are you seeing any impacts from the credit crunch 
from those or are you guys still supply constrained even to the U.S. retailers? 

[SOLLITTO:] We’re still seeing a situation where our big box retail 
customers have asked us to sign up to orders that are on the order of three 
times higher than we’re willing to commit.  Those continue to come in.  We 
do continue to discuss with those big box retailers methods by which we 
could increase their sourcing.  But for right now the demand for Olevia is 
still significantly higher than we’re able to provide. 
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* * * 

[SOLLITTO:] . . . As I mentioned earlier, we have standing orders 
from at least half a dozen national retailers for substantially more product 
than we have currently in our pipeline. . . .  We’ve been approached by 
several of the panel manufacturers and asked if we would like additional 
allocation.  Of course, we’d love to have additional allocation if we are able 
to finance that. 

170. Sollitto, acknowledging the difficulty in timely collecting the Chinese account 

receivables, indicated that the Company would try to begin direct sales in China, “[B]ecause 

of the fact that we believe that it’s prudent for us at this instant in time to limit the amount 

that the absolute value of the accounts receivable that will be on 120 day terms . . . the 

revenue will be directly ours and then we’ll be able to finance that directly through Chinese 

banks.” 

171. Despite the Company’s substantial reduction in projected revenues for 1Q08, 

which was set to close in less than three weeks, Sollitto was still very positive concerning the 

Company’s sales in China.  On the 4Q07 Conference Call, Sollitto stated that “[d]emand for 

Olevia in China is extremely high.  And as you know, we’ve enjoyed very good margins 

there.”  He also stated that the Company was still “modeling to grow at just under 100%” in 

China through the December quarter.  In the Company’s September 12, 2007 press release, 

Sollitto further stated: 

We are extremely pleased with the company’s performance for fiscal 
2007 . . . .  The Olevia brand enjoys an outstanding reputation in performance 
and quality, and demand continues to exceed our sourcing capabilities.  In 
addition the response to the Vivitar founding sponsorship at the 02, an 
entertainment complex near the financial district in London, promises to 
increase demand and profitability of our digital camera products, especially in 
Europe.  Unit shipments in the fourth-quarter exceeded our expectations as we 
experienced strong sell-through in our U.S. channels, aided in part by new 
retail partners as well as continued acceptance of the Olevia brand by 
consumers. 

172. On September 13, 2007, Syntax-Brillian filed with the SEC its Annual Report 

on Form 10-K which was signed and certified by Sollitto and Pratt. 

173. On September 13, 2007, Canaccord cut its rating from “buy” to “hold.”  “The 

timing of the missed guidance, accounting issues and the CFO departure will try even the 

most optimistic investors,” said analyst Jonathan Dorsheimer in a research note. 
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174. Previously, Sollitto and Pratt touted the Company’s business prospects citing 

strong demand for the Company’s products.  However, Merrill, who conducted the 

Company’s SPO now said that it was having trouble independently corroborating the “strong 

demand” for Syntax-Brillian’s Olevia televisions.  Therefore, on September 13, 2007, Steven 

Fox, an analyst at Merrill downgraded the stock from “buy” to “sell.”7  Syntax-Brillian’s 

common stock declined more than 34.5% to $4.01 on volume of more than 36 million shares. 

175. On October 1, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced that Sollitto was replaced as 

Chief Executive Officer by Li, who also retained his title as President of the Company.  

Syntax-Brillian also announced that Sollitto would remain as Executive Chairman of the 

Company’s Board of Directors.8 

176. On October 2, 2007, Tristan Gerra, an analyst from Robert W. Baird 

downgraded Syntax-Brillian’s stock rating to “Neutral” from “Outperform,” and slashed his 

target price to $4 per share from $12.  In support of his stock downgrade, Gerra stated that 

“business funding in an environment of rising component prices is likely to remain a 

challenge for the next few quarters.” 

177. Specifically downplaying any concerns, in an interview published on October 

9, 2007, Sollitto, in response to a question by James Cullen about why investors are negative 

regarding Syntax, stated that “Ernst & Young, the SEC, everybody has looked at that [Kolin] 

with a fine tooth comb and said there’s no issue there.” 

178. On October 9, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced a comprehensive “120-day 

action plan” by the Company’s management and Board of Directors.  According to the press 

release, key elements of the plan included, among other things, evaluating how the Company 

                                              

7  On September 28, 2007, the Company announced that Hodgson, the former Chairman 
of the Audit Committee, had accepted Syntax’s offer to become CFO of the Company. 

8  Then on October 4, 2007, in a Form 8-K filed with the SEC, the Company announced 
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, a position that commanded an annual salary 
of $340,000 and the immediate vesting of all of Sollitto’s stock options.  The press release 
attached to the October 4, 2007 Form 8-K also acknowledged the appointment of defendant 
Li as the new CEO of Syntax-Brillian. 



 

- 64 - 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

does business in China with a focus on quality of earnings, evaluating the Company’s 

corporate infrastructure and processes with the aim of reducing costs, optimizing allocation 

of assets, and improving productivity, profits, and overall performance; and focusing on 

meeting any additional near-term capital needs with debt instruments. 

179. On October 22, 2007, the Company announced that it had received notice from 

NASDAQ warning that Syntax-Brillian’s appointment of Hodgson as CFO of the Company 

violated NASDAQ’s independent director requirements, and as such the Company was 

subject to delistng from the exchange should Syntax-Brillian not cure the deficiency by 

March 31, 2008. 

180. On October 30, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced that it had secured a five-year 

$250 million senior secured credit facility arranged by Silver Point Finance.  The facility 

would be used to repay and extinguish approximately $80 million drawn against existing 

credit facilities, purchase LCD panels and for general corporate and working capital 

purposes.  Li stated that the credit facility can also be used to finance up to 85% of North 

American inventory and account receivables, up to 25% of account receivables from 

SCHOT.  Interest on the credit facility would be paid at an annual rate equal to, at the 

Company’s option, LIBOR plus 6% or Prime plus 5%.  Silver Point Finance would receive 

ten-year warrants exercisable into approximately 5.28 million shares of common stock at an 

exercise price of $0.01 per share. 

181. On November 8, 2007, Syntax-Brillian announced its results for 1Q08.  The 

results were significantly worse than what had been projected by the Company on September 

12, 2007 when there was less than three weeks remaining in the quarter.  Revenues were 

$150.6 million, significantly below the $170 to $180 million that had been projected in 

September, and LCD sales in China were $14.6 million, a decline of approximately 85% 

from 4Q07.  Moreover, the Company shipped only 240,000 units in 1Q08, which was also 

substantially below the Company’s projected guidance given on September 12 of 270,000 to 

290,000 units. 
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182. Syntax-Brillian also announced, for the first time, that it had ended its primary 

distributor agreement with SCHOT.  Rather than manufacturing and shipping televisions 

directly to SCHOT, and immediately recording the revenue, Syntax-Brillian announced that 

it would now license the Olevia brand in Asia to a third party, Olevia Far East.  Olevia Far 

East would be responsible for all aspects of selling the televisions in Asia – manufacturing, 

marketing and selling – and Syntax-Brillian would just receive a fee for each television sold. 

F. The Individual Defendants’ Inconsistent Statements and Admissions 

183. Syntax-Brillian announced that it had shipped $56.1 million in product to 

Olevia Far East during 1Q08 but, because these shipments did not conform with the 

appropriate accounting standards for revenue recognition, specifically SAB No. 104, and due 

to lack of collection history and credit worthiness with Olevia Far East, the Company 

deferred revenue recognition until payments are received. 

184. In 1Q08, Syntax-Brillian also made little progress in collecting payments on 

televisions shipped to SCHOT during the prior fiscal quarters.  Despite ending shipments of 

LCDs to SCHOT altogether in 1Q08, account receivables owed from SCHOT to the 

Company was $123.2 million as of September 30, 2007, which was only $14.9 million less 

than the $138.1 million that SCHOT owed the Company as of June 30, 2007. 

185. Equally, the Company was forced to admit its previous financial reporting had 

not been completely transparent.  Li stated on the Company’s November 8, 2008 1Q08 

corporate earnings conference call with investors (“1Q08 Conference Call”), “[a]s we grow, 

it is important to also focus on more transparent financial reporting . . . this will provide us 

with a stronger balance sheet.” 

186. Nevertheless, Li went so far as to describe Syntax-Brillian as “under valued” 

on the Company’s 1Q08 Conference Call.  When asked by Crest analyst Scott Barsky if the 

Company’s stock was under valued, Li responded “[A]bsolutely.  Of course.  Of course 

right?  Absolutely.”  Li further claimed, “We believe our second half of physical 2008 

should see much improvement.” 
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187. On November 15, 2007, before the market opened, Syntax-Brillian filed its 

Form 10-Q for 1Q08.  In the Form 10-Q, the Company revealed that, of the $123.2 million 

owed to the Company by SCHOT, $98 million of that was more than 120-days past due as of 

November 8, 2007.  The Company also indicated in the Form l0-Q that its Chief Accounting 

Officer left the Company in October 2007. 

188. Analysts reacted in November to the Company’s woes.  Collins Stewart stated, 

“we are disappointed with the [C]ompany’s lowered outlook.”  Canaccord described the 

impact of Syntax-Brillian’s disclosures as “negative.” 

189. On April 18, 2008, Syntax-Brillian announced that the Company’s financial 

statements should no longer be relied on and that it was likely that the Company would 

restate its financial statements.  Specifically, in a press release entitled “Syntax-Brillian 

Provides Financial Statement Update,” the Company stated, in relevant part: 

Syntax-Brillian Corporation today announced that as previously stated on 
February 11, 2008, Syntax-Brillian management, working with the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors, has been evaluating its accounting 
treatment related to tooling deposits with a manufacturing partner.  Based on 
the preliminary findings of the review of the accounting for the tooling 
deposits, as well as certain sales transactions with the Company’s Asian 
distributors, management and the Audit Committee believe that the financial 
statements for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and the interim periods 
contained therein, and the first fiscal quarter of 2008 may likely require 
restatement, and the financial disclosures within these previously-issued 
financial statements may likely be changed.  As such, the Company’s 
financial statements for these periods should no longer be relied upon. 

G. The Individual Defendants’ Scienter Is Further Evidenced by Syntax-
 Brillian’s Terminations and Resignations, Their Need to Complete Stock 
 Offerings and Their Significant Insider Selling Prior to the Disclosure of the 
 Truth About the Company 

190. The Company’s terminations and resignations of key executives during the 

same period of the announcement of accounting irregularities are further indicative of 

Individual Defendants’ scienter.  On September 12, 2007, the Company announced the 

resignation of CFO Pratt.  On September 28, 2007, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in 

which it announced that, effective October 1, 2007, Hodgson would replace Pratt as CFO.  

On October 4, 2007, the Company filed a Form 8-K in which it announced the replacement 

of CEO Sollitto by Li.  On November 15, 2007, Syntax-Brillian also indicated in its Form 
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10-Q that its chief accounting officer had left the Company in October 2007.  On April 24, 

2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in which the Company announced that, effective 

April 18, 2008, Chow resigned as Executive Vice President and Chief Procurement Officer, 

but would continue to serve as a director.  In the same filing, Syntax-Brillian announced that, 

also effective April 18, 2008, Chan resigned as Executive Vice President but would continue 

to serve as Corporate Secretary.  On March 28, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in 

which it announced that, on March 24, 2008, Hodgson resigned as the Company’s Executive 

Vice President, CFO and director.  Hodgson resigned as CFO after serving in the position for 

less than six-months.  On June 3, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in which it 

announced that, effective May 28, 2008, Chow resigned as a director of the Company.  In the 

same filing, the Company also announced that, effective May 30, 2008, Christopher C.L. Liu 

resigned as a director of the Company.  On June 6, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in 

which the Company announced that, effective June 5, 2008, Shih-Jye Cheng resigned as a 

director of the Company.  On July 8, 2008, the Company filed a Form 8-K in which the 

Company announced that, effective June 30, 2008, Sollitto, Li, Bruce Berkoff, David 

Chavoustie, Yasushi Chikagami and Max Fang resigned as directors of the Company.  In the 

same filing, the Company announced that on July 2, 2008, the Board of Directors terminated 

Li as President and CEO. 

191. The Individual Defendants acted with scienter in that they knew that the public 

documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were 

materially false and misleading, knew that such statements or documents would be issued or 

disseminated to the investing public, and knowingly and substantially participated or 

acquiesced in the issuance and/or dissemination of such statements or documents in primary 

violations of the federal securities laws.  As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, the 

Individual Defendants, by virtue of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts 

regarding Syntax-Brillian, their control over and/or receipt and/or modification of Syntax-

Brillian’s allegedly materially misleading misstatements and/or their associations with the 



 

- 68 - 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Company, which made them privy to confidential proprietary information concerning 

Syntax-Brillian, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

192. Because of their executive and managerial positions with Syntax-Brillian, the 

Individual Defendants had access to the adverse non-public information about the business, 

finances, markets and present and future business prospects of Syntax-Brillian.  The 

Individual Defendants access is particularized herein via access to internal corporate 

documents, conversations or connections with corporate officers or employees, attendance at 

management meetings and committees thereof and/or via reports and other information 

provided to them in connection therewith. 

193. The Individual Defendants’ reliance on corporate bonus plans directly related 

to Syntax-Brillian’s financial performance supports a strong inference of scienter.  Syntax-

Brillian’s compensation program for executive officers was based on the Company’s 

performance under three performance criteria: revenue, gross margin, and adjusted EBITDA 

(Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization), each of which was equally 

weighed.  “Meeting 90% of the targeted performance criteria results in the establishment of 

an incentive pool equal to 50% of the target bonus; meeting 100% of the targeted 

performance criteria results in the establishment of an incentive pool equal to 100% of the 

target bonus; and meeting 110% of the targeted performance criteria results in the 

establishment of an incentive pool equal to 150% of the target bonus.”  The target bonus was 

50% of base salary in the case of Sollitto and Li and 30% of base salary in the case of Chow 

and Pratt. 

194. Sollitto received a 2007 salary of $306,250, option awards of $106,920, and 

other compensation totaling $183,000, for a total of $596,170.  On July 6, 2006, Syntax-

Brillian granted Sollitto a stock award of 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, 

which vested ratably upon each monthly anniversary of the grant date over a 50-month 

period.  On January 15, 2007, Syntax-Brillian increased Sollitto’s base salary to $340,000. 

195. Li received a 2007 salary of $261,635, option awards of $106,920, and other 

compensation totaling $160,000, for a total of $528,555.  On July 6, 2006, Syntax-Brillian 
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granted Li a stock award of 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, which vested 

ratably upon each monthly anniversary of the grant date over a 50-month period.  Effective 

on January 15, 2007, Syntax-Brillian increased Li’s base salary to $285,000. 

196. Pratt received a 2007 salary of $239,231, option awards of $71,280, and other 

compensation totaling $88,000, for a total of $398,511.  On July 6, 2006, Syntax-Brillian 

granted Pratt a stock award of 200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, which 

vested ratably upon each monthly anniversary of the grant date over a 50-month period.  On 

January 15, 2007, Syntax-Brillian increased Pratt’s base salary to $260,000. 

197. Chow received a 2007 salary of $220,000, option awards of $44,550, and other 

compensation totaling $88,000, for a total of $352,550.  On July 6, 2006, Syntax-Brillian 

granted Chow a stock award of 125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, which 

vested ratably upon each monthly anniversary of the grant date over a 50-month period.  In 

addition, as part of the SPO, Chow took advantage of his knowledge and material non-public 

information to sell 1,399,999 shares at $5.75 per share, for proceeds of $8,049,994. 

198. The Individual Defendants had a duty to promptly disseminate accurate and 

truthful information with respect to Syntax-Brillian’s operations and financial condition or to 

cause and direct that such information be disseminated and to promptly correct any 

previously disseminated information that was misleading to the market.  As a result of their 

failure to do so, the price of Syntax-Brillian’s common stock was artificially inflated during 

the Class Period, damaging plaintiffs and the Class. 

199. The Individual Defendants, because of their positions with Syntax-Brillian, 

controlled the contents of the quarterly reports, annual reports and press releases 

disseminated throughout the Class Period.  Each Individual Defendant was provided with or 

had access to copies of the reports and press releases alleged herein to be false and/or 

misleading prior to or shortly after their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to 

prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Because of their positions and access to 

material non-public information, the Individual Defendants knew or recklessly disregarded 

that the adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to and were being concealed 
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from the public and that the positive representations which were being made were false and 

misleading.  As a result, each of the Individual Defendants is responsible for the accuracy of 

Syntax-Brillian’s corporate releases detailed herein and is therefore responsible and liable for 

the representations contained therein.  Additionally, each defendant is liable as a primary 

violator in making false and misleading statements, and for participating in a fraudulent 

scheme and course of business that operated as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of Syntax-

Brillian securities during the Class Period. 

200. The Individual Defendants acted with scienter in that each Individual 

Defendant knew or recklessly disregarded that the public documents and statements, issued 

or disseminated by or in the name of the Company were materially false and misleading, 

knew or recklessly disregarded that such statements or documents would be issued to the 

investing public, and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced in the issuance 

or dissemination of such statement or documents as primary violators of the federal 

securities laws.  The Individual Defendants, by virtue of their receipt of information 

reflecting the true facts regarding Syntax-Brillian and it business practices, their control over 

and/or receipt of Syntax-Brillian’s allegedly materially misleading misstatements, and/or 

their associations with the Company which made them privy to confidential proprietary 

information concerning Syntax-Brillian, were active and culpable participants in the 

fraudulent scheme alleged herein.  The Individual Defendants knew and/or recklessly 

disregarded the falsity and misleading nature of the information that they caused to be 

disseminated to the investing public.  The ongoing fraudulent scheme described in this 

Complaint could not have been perpetuated over a substantial period of time, as has 

occurred, without the knowledge and complicity of the personnel at the highest level of the 

Company, including the Individual Defendants. 

201. The Individual Defendants engaged in this scheme to complete three separate 

offerings of common stock during the Class Period: 

(a) on March 28, 2007, Syntax-Brillian sold approximately 2.1 million 

shares of common stock at $7.32 per share and three-year warrants to purchase 211,817 
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shares of stock at an exercise price of $8.78 per share, for proceeds of approximately $15.5 

million; 

(b) on May 23, 2007, the Company sold approximately 29.4 million shares 

of its common stock at $5.75 per share; and 

(c) on August 23, 2007, the Company sold approximately 3.1 million shares 

at 6.485 per share to TECO. 

202. These offerings raised more than $178 million for the Company and, but for 

Individual Defendants’ fraud as alleged herein, the Company would not have been able to 

complete these offerings at all or, if completed, not at the prices at which the securities were 

sold. 

H. Post Class Period Events 

203. On February 12, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form NT 10-Q in which the 

Company announced that it required additional time to file its Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended December 31, 2007, because the Company “expended considerable time and internal 

resources preparing its financial statements” in order to evaluate its accounting treatment 

related to its tooling deposits and to ensure adequate disclosure regarding the discontinuation 

of its Liquid Crystal on Silicone, or LCoS, business line. 

204. According to CW3, Syntax-Brillian shipped a large number of rear projection 

televisions to China.  However, according to CW3, the televisions were returned to Syntax-

Brillian in the December 2007 through January 2008 timeframe.  The Company never 

reported or disclosed how many televisions were returned.  According to CW3, Syntax-

Brillian’s financial statements for the second quarter ended on December 31, 2007 was not 

released on time because the Company was trying to figure out how to cover up a lot of 

issues. 

205. On February 28, 2008, the Company filed a Form 8-K in which it announced 

that Syntax-Brillian received a NASDAQ Staff Determination Letter on February 22, 2008, 

stating that the Company was not in compliance with NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 
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4310(c)(14) because the Company did not timely file its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

December 31, 2007. 

206. On May 21, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in which it announced that 

the Company received a NASDAQ Staff Determination Letter on May 15, 2008, stating that 

the Company was not in compliance with NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4310(c)(14) because 

the Company did not timely file its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008.  In this 

filing, the Company announced that, on May 6, 2008, the NASDAQ Listing Qualifications 

Panel (“NASDAQ Panel”) granted the Company’s request for continued listing on the 

NASDAQ Stock Market notwithstanding the delay in the filing of the Company’s Form 10-

Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2007.  In accordance with the NASDAQ Panel’s 

decision, the Company was required, among other things, to file the Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended December 31, 2007 by July 31, 2008. 

207. As described herein, on July 8, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed for protection under 

Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. 

208. On July 21, 2008, Syntax-Brillian filed a Form 8-K in which the Company 

announced that it received a letter from the NASDAQ Stock Market on July 18, 2008, stating 

that the NASDAQ Panel had determined to delist the Company’s shares from the NASDAQ 

Stock Market and would suspend trading of those share at the open of business on July 22, 

2008, because of the Company’s previously reported NASDAQ listing violations and the 

July 8, 2008 bankruptcy filing.  The Company stated that it does not intend to appeal the 

NASDAQ Panel’s decision. 

I. Reasons Why Defendants’ Class Period Statements Were False and 
 Misleading 

209. Syntax-Brillian issued financial statements and earnings releases that were 

false and not presented in accordance with GAAP and made statements during the Class 

Period that were materially false and misleading. 

210. GAAP are those principles recognized by the accounting profession as the 

conventions, rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a 
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particular time.  SEC Regulation S-X (17 C.F.R. §210.4-01(a)(1)) states that financial 

statements filed with the SEC that are not prepared in compliance with GAAP are presumed 

to be misleading and inaccurate, despite footnotes and other disclosure.  Regulation S-X 

requires that interim financial statements must also comply with GAAP, with the exception 

that interim financial statements need not include disclosure that would be duplicative of 

disclosures accompanying annual disclosures, per 17 C.F.R. §210.10-01(a). 

211. The original representations that Syntax-Brillian’s financial statements were 

properly stated and a fair representation of Syntax-Brillian’s financial condition were false 

and misleading, as the financial information was neither in conformity with GAAP, nor was 

the financial information a “fair representation” of Syntax-Brillian’s financial condition.  

Ultimately, in its bankruptcy filing on July 8, 2008, Syntax-Brillian admitted that the 

Company ceased operations because its “cost of goods sold was simply too high for the 

business to make a sustainable margin” – a far different story than what had been 

communicated to investors.  Syntax-Brillian was able to hide this disturbing trend of 

unprofitable operations through the use of several improper accounting schemes that 

overstated revenues, margins, and earnings per share.  These accounting schemes included: 

• the improper and premature recognition of revenue whereby Syntax-
Brillian’s primary distributor, representing as much as 40% of quarterly 
sales volume, was not required to pay for products until they resold the 
products to end-user customers and was allowed to return any unsold 
products; and 

• the improper accounting for “tooling deposits” whereby Syntax-
Brillian’s main supplier, a related party, received large cash advances 
from Syntax-Brillian and in return, the supplier issued large non-cash 
“vendor rebates” and other credits at the end of each quarter to help 
Syntax-Brillian boost reported earnings and margins. 

212. SCHOT, an Asian electronics distributor, was Syntax-Brillian’s largest 

customer, making up as much as 40% to 50% of total sales volume in some periods.  Syntax-

Brillian recorded revenue upon shipment of products to SCHOT.  These shipments and the 

related sales agreements did not meet the criteria for revenue recognition, as shipping 
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products to SCHOT amounted to nothing more than consignment sales in Asia to allow 

Syntax-Brillian to record revenue.  SCHOT had no obligation to pay for the products until 

they found an end-user customer and received payments themselves.  This is consistent with 

the huge receivable balances SCHOT had with Syntax-Brillian; while the Company claimed 

the sometimes in excess of $150 million receivable balance was due to “customary 120-day 

trade terms in Asia” or “seasonality” – the truth is that SCHOT simply was not obligated to 

pay for any products shipped to them until the products were sold to an end-user customer. 

213. The transactions with SCHOT also violated even more basic principles of 

GAAP revenue recognition.  SAB No. 104 clearly and concisely states that revenue is 

realized or realizable and earned only if and when all of the following criteria are met: 

• Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, with the term 
“arrangement” meaning the final understanding between the parties as 
to the specific nature and terms of the agreed-upon transaction; 

• Delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; 

• The seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and 

• Collectibility is reasonably assured. 

214. Clearly, the last requirement was not met as evidenced by Syntax-Brillian 

allowing SCHOT to not pay for products until they were sold to end-user customers which 

created huge outstanding receivable balances that were never guaranteed to be paid.  In fact, 

in the case of the Olympic Village transaction, those receivables were written-off and the 

products accepted back from SCHOT after the Chinese government denied delivery. 

215. Additionally, the substance of the relationship with Kolin, specifically the 

tooling deposits arrangement coupled with the vendor rebates arrangement, amounted to 

nothing more than a roundtrip of payments that served to benefit both parties.  The reporting 

of these transactions by Syntax-Brillian in their publicly issued financial statements violated 

GAAP, specifically FASB Statement of Concepts No. 2, which requires that accounting for a 

transaction should reflect its economic substance, and not simply follow the form. 
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216. According to CW1, moreover, in 2007 Syntax-Brillian gave Kolin between 

$65 to $150 million for tooling costs (tooling deposits).  In exchange, Kolin would issue a 

pro-rata purchase credit back to Syntax-Brillian as the Company purchased components from 

Kolin.  Syntax-Brillian recorded this credit as a reduction of its cost of sales.  The amounts 

of tooling deposits and purchase credits were supposed to follow an “earn out schedule” e.g., 

Syntax-Brillian would commit to buy 10,000 units of 37” LCD flat panel televisions over a 

six month or one year period.  According to CW1, all tooling deposit agreements were 

negotiated directly between Li (COO) and Kolin, and CW1 was told about the terms and 

provided with documents from Li. 

217. These tooling deposits were, in fact, round-trip, with the payments artificially 

inflating the Company’s profit margin.  The arrangement was a sham.  In fact, according to 

CW1, at 2007 year-end, Syntax-Brillian had not purchased or “earned out” a substantial 

amount of its tooling deposit.  Accordingly, a significant amount of units remained on the 

tooling deposits earn out schedule.  According to CW1, and in accordance with GAAP, if 

Kolin was not going to refund any money, which they clearly were not going to, then 

Syntax-Brillian should have written-off the remaining un-credited amounts left on the earn 

out schedule instead of writing off the un-earned sham tooling deposits.  The Company 

instead created a last minute “extension” with Kolin in order to avoid any write-off.  

According to CW1, in the final days before closing the Company’s books, CW1 was told 

that Kolin had issued an “extension” on the earn-out schedule.  According to CW1, E&Y 

immediately requested written proof of this extension before they would sign off on the 

Form 10-K.  The first evidence that CW1 saw of an extension agreement was an unsigned 

8x11 piece of paper typed in Chinese.  CW1 refused to accept this document and demanded 

a signed letter, in English, on formal letterhead.  Subsequently, Kolin provided an agreement 

in English, but the Kolin letterhead was merely typed in and the author’s name on the letter 

was typed in without a signature.  According to CW1, E&Y ultimately accepted this letter. 

218. Additionally, the statements defendants made during the Class Period were 

also materially false and misleading, or omitted to state other facts necessary to make the 
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statements made not misleading, because: (i) the Company’s reported revenue, net income 

and LCD units sold were artificially inflated; (ii) there was insufficient end-user demand in 

China to warrant the quantity of LCD televisions shipped to SCHOT during the Class Period; 

(iii) the Company’s financial statements did not fairly present, in all material respects, the 

financial condition and results of operations of the Company; (iv) the Company’s negative 

working capital and cash flow was caused by SCHOT’s failure to pay for televisions that it 

received but was unable to sell; and (v) the Company’s cash from operations and credit 

facilities were not sufficient to sustain operations. 

J. Fraud on the Market Allegations 

219. The market for Syntax-Brillian securities was open, well-developed and 

efficient at all relevant times.  As a result of these materially false and misleading statements 

and failures to disclose, Syntax-Brillian securities traded at artificially inflated prices during 

the Class Period.  Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired 

Syntax-Brillian securities relying upon the integrity of the market price of Syntax-Brillian 

securities and market information relating to Syntax-Brillian, and have been damaged 

thereby. 

220. During the Class Period, the Individual Defendants materially misled the 

investing public, thereby inflating the price of Syntax-Brillian securities, by publicly issuing 

false and misleading statements and omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make the 

Individual Defendants’ statements, as set forth herein, not false and misleading.  These 

statements and omissions were materially false and misleading in that they failed to disclose 

material adverse information and misrepresented the truth about the Company, its business 

and operations. 

221. The statements detailed above, concerning the Company’s revenues, 

profitability and demand for its products in China, were materially false and misleading, 

because among other things: 

(a) Syntax-Brillian recorded revenue upon shipment of products to SCHOT.  

These shipments and the related sales agreements did not meet the criteria for revenue 
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recognition, as shipping products to SCHOT amounted to nothing more than consignment 

sales in Asia to allow Syntax-Brillian to record revenue.  SCHOT had no obligation to pay 

for the products until they found an end-user customer and received payments themselves.  

This is consistent with the huge receivable balances SCHOT had with Syntax-Brillian; while 

the Company claimed the sometimes in excess of $150 million receivable balance was due to 

“customary 120 day trade terms in Asia” or “seasonality” – the truth is that SCHOT simply 

was not obligated to pay for any products shipped to them until the products were sold to an 

end-user customer; 

(b) the Company’s failure to meet 1Q08 and 2Q08 revenue and earnings 

guidance was not the result of a credit contraction in Asia, but rather was the result of too 

many unsold televisions held by SCHOT and a lack of real consumer demand for Olevia 

televisions in China; 

(c) the Company’s negative working capital and cash flow were caused by 

SCHOT’s failure to pay for televisions that it received but was unable to sell; and 

(d) the Company’s cash from operations and credit facilities were not 

sufficient to sustain operations for the next 12-months, absent several offerings of the 

Company’s common stock, including the issuance of warrants to purchase 5.28 million 

shares at $0.01 per share in order to secure a new $250 million credit facility from Silver 

Point Finance. 

222. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions 

particularized in this Consolidated Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a 

substantial contributing cause of the damages sustained by plaintiffs and other members of 

the Class.  As described herein, during the Class Period, the Individual Defendants made or 

caused to be made a series of materially false or misleading statements about Syntax-

Brillian’s business, accounting and financial results.  These material misstatements and 

omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market an unrealistically positive 

assessment of Syntax-Brillian and its business and operations, thus causing the Company’s 

securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevant times.  The Individual 
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Defendants materially false and misleading statements during the Class Period resulted in 

plaintiffs and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at artificially 

inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein. 

K. No Safe Harbor 

223. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under 

certain circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pled in this 

complaint.  Many of the specific statements pleaded herein were not identified as “forward-

looking statements” when made.  To the extent there were any forward-looking statements, 

there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could 

cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking 

statements.  Alternatively, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor does apply to any 

forward-looking statements pled herein, the Individual Defendants are liable for those false 

forward-looking statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements 

was made, the particular speaker knew that the particular forward-looking statement was 

false, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized and/or approved by an executive 

officer of Syntax-Brillian who knew that those statements were false when made. 

L. Liability of the Individual Defendants 

224. In furtherance of the Individual Defendants’ unlawful scheme, plan and course 

of conduct, the Individual Defendants, and each of them, took the actions set forth herein. 

225. The Individual Defendants (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to 

defraud; (ii) made untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts 

necessary to make the statements not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the 

Company’s securities in an effort to maintain artificially high market prices for Syntax-

Brillian’s securities in violation of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.  All 

Individual Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the wrongful and illegal 

conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below. 
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226. The Individual Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, 

by the use, means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged 

and participated in a continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information 

about the business, operations and future prospects of Syntax-Brillian as specified herein. 

227. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person 

liability, arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level 

executives and/or directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the 

Company’s management team or had control thereof; (ii) each of the Individual Defendants, 

by virtue of his responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the 

Company, was privy to, and participated in, the creation, development and reporting of the 

Company’s internal budgets, plans, projections and/or reports; (iii) each of the Individual 

Defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and familiarity with the other defendants 

and had access to other members of the Company’s management team; (iv) each of the 

Individual Defendants had access to internal reports and other data and information about the 

Company’s finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times, including the adverse 

undisclosed information about its business, operations, products, operational trends, financial 

statements, markets and present and future business prospects; and (v) each of the Individual 

Defendants participated in conversations with other corporate officers and employees, 

attended management and Board of Directors meetings and were members of committees 

thereof and obtained reports and other information provided to them in connection therewith.   

228. The Individual Defendants were each involved in drafting, producing, 

reviewing and disseminating the SEC filings, press releases and other public announcements 

containing the false and misleading statements and information alleged herein.  Accordingly, 

it is reasonable to treat the Individual Defendants as a group for pleading purposes. 

229. The Individual Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and 

omissions of material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in 

that they failed to ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available 

to them.  Such Individual Defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were 
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done knowingly or recklessly and for the purpose and effect of concealing Syntax-Brillian’s 

operating condition and future business prospects from the investing public and supporting 

the artificially inflated price of its securities.  As demonstrated by the Individual Defendants’ 

overstatements and misstatements of the Company’s business, operations and earnings 

throughout the Class Period, the Individual Defendants, if they did not have actual 

knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to obtain 

such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover 

whether those statements were false or misleading. 

230. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions, plaintiffs and other 

members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true.  Had 

plaintiffs and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding 

the problems that Syntax-Brillian was experiencing, which were not disclosed by the 

Individual Defendants, plaintiffs and other members of the Class would not have purchased 

or otherwise acquired their Syntax-Brillian securities, or, if they had acquired such securities 

during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the artificially inflated prices which 

they paid. 

231. By virtue of the foregoing, the Individual Defendants have violated §10(b) of 

the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. 

232. Plaintiffs and the members of the Class have been damaged by the decline in 

Syntax-Brillian’s stock price near and at the end of the Class Period, which was a direct and 

proximate result of the disclosure concerning the Company’s adverse business and financial 

condition that had been concealed by the Individual Defendants’ prior misrepresentations, 

omissions and other fraudulent conduct. 

COUNT V 

Against the Individual Defendants for Violation of §20(a)  
of the Exchange Act 

233. Plaintiffs repeat and reiterate each and every allegation contained in each of the 

foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully herein. 
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234. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of the Company under 

the meaning of §20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein.  By virtue of their high-level 

positions, and active participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s day-to-day 

operations, and/or intimate knowledge of the Company’s business plans and implementation 

thereof, each Individual Defendant had the power to influence and control and did influence 

and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of the Company, including the 

content and dissemination of the various statements that plaintiff alleges are false and 

misleading.  The Individual Defendants were provided with, or had unlimited access to 

copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings and other statements alleged 

herein to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the 

ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected. 

235. In particular, the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory 

involvement in the day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, are presumed to 

have had the power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the 

securities violations as alleged herein, and exercised the same. 

236. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, the Individual Defendants 

are liable pursuant to §20(a) of the Exchange Act.  As a direct and proximate result of the 

wrongful conduct, plaintiff and the other members of the Class suffered damages in 

connection with their purchases of the Company’s common stock during the Class Period. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the Class, pray for 

judgment as follows: 

(a) Declaring this action to be a class action pursuant to Rule 23(a) and 

(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein; 

(b) Awarding plaintiffs and the other members of the Class damages in an 

amount that may be proven at trial, together with interest thereon; 

(c) Awarding named plaintiffs and other Class members rescission on their 

§12(a)(2) claim; 
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(d) Awarding plaintiffs and the members of the Class pre-judgment and 

post-judgment interest, as well as their reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ witness fees and 

other costs; and 

(e) Such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury. 

DATED:  August 25, 2008 COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER 
 RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP 
JONATHAN E. BEHAR 
EX KANO S. SAMS II 
REGINA M. AMES 
SEAN K. COLLINS 

s/Jonathan E. Behar 
JONATHAN E. BEHAR 

9601 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 510 
Los Angeles, CA  90210 
Telephone:  310/859-3100 
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Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs 

BUCKLEY KING 
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Phoenix, AZ  85004 
Telephone:  602/424-2550 
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Liaison Counsel 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on August 25, 2008, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 

Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send notification of such filing to 

the e-mail addresses denoted on the attached Electronic Mail Notice List, and I hereby certify 

that I have mailed the foregoing document or paper via the United States Postal Service to 

the non-CM/ECF participants indicated on the attached Manual Notice List. 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that 

the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on August 25, 2008. 

 
 s/Jonathan E. Behar 
 JONATHAN E. BEHAR 

 
COUGHLIN STOIA GELLER 
 RUDMAN & ROBBINS LLP 
9601 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 510 
Los Angeles, CA  90210 
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